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BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR POST-TRIAL RELIEF

The Pennsylvania State University (“University”) filed a post-trial motion

defamation. The University files this brief in support of its request for judgment

notwithstanding the verdict, or alternatively, a new trial, molding of the =
M2 5
compensatory awards, and remittitur because despite the best int&itions amd e

of the Court, errors irreparably prejudiced the University.

ISSUES PRESENTED

(1).  Is the University entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict on
Plaintiff’s claims of misrepresentation and defamation, or, alternatively a new trial
when the Court erroneously instructed the jury that Curley, Schultz, and Spanier
were mandated reporters of child abuse when no evidence was presented during
trial to establish that they were mandated reporters?

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(2). Is the University entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict on
Plaintiff’s claim of misrepresentation or, alternatively a new trial, when Plaintiff
failed to provide sufficient evidence to establish each necessary element of
intentional misrepresentation?

Suggested Answer: Yes.



(3). Is the University entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict
when Plaintiff filed his misrepresentation claim outside the statute of limitations.

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(4) Is the University entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or,
alternatively a new trial on Plaintiff’s claim of defamation when Plaintiff based his
claim on an expression of opinion that implied
Plaintift?

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(5). Isthe Unive
new trial, new trial on damages, remittitur, or molding of damages when the

compensatory award was not supported by the evidence?

(6). Isthe University entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict or
remittitur on the punitive damage award for the misrepresentation claim when no

evidence of malice, vindictiveness, or wholly wanton conduct sufficient to support
an award of punitive damages was presented during trial?
Suggested Answer: Yes.

(7). Is the University entitled to a new trial on Plaintiff’s claims of

defamation and misrepresentation when its stay request were denied which



required the University to prepare for trial and participate in trial without access to
two key witnesses who were asserting their Fifth Amendment Rights?

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(8). Isthe University entitled to a new trial on Plaintiff’s claims of
defamation and misrepresentation when the Court erroneously instructed the jury
that it might take an adverse inference against the University for the decision of
non-parties to exercise their Fifth Amendment rights?

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(9). Isthe University entitled to a new trial when Plaintiff did not show
actual malice and the Court failed to instruct the jury that it had to find actual

malice since Plaintiff was a public figure or a limited-purpose public figure?

(10). Is the University entitled to a new trial when Plaintiff did not show
actual malice and the Court failed to instruct the jury that it had to find actual

snalian cinaAn

imiannce Since Spanic

2!
3
-4

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(11). Isthe University entitled to a new trial on the defamation claim when

cast Plaintiff in a negative light for reasons independent of Spanier’s statement?

Suggested Answer: Yes.



(12). Is the University entitled to a new trial on the defamation and
misrepresentation claims when the Court improperly threatened to take an adverse
inference against the University each time a University witness asserted attorney-
client privilege?

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(13). Isthe University entitled to a new trial on the defamation and
misrepresentation claim because the Court improperly refused to provide special
interrogatories to the jury?

Suggested Answer: Yes.

(14). Is the University entitled to a new trial on the defamation and

misrepresentation claims because the Court improperly acted as an advocate for the

am LAY

1 5} PR
Iidllunn?
Suggested Answer: Yes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I FORM OF ACTION AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Michael McQueary alleged that the University’s response to the allegations
that another football coach committed sexual misconduct caused McQueary to
suffer damages. McQueary asserted three causes of action against the University:
(1) defamation; (2) intentional misrepresentation; and (3) a violation of

Pennsylvania’s whistleblower law.



Trial took place before the Honorable Thomas G. Gavin in the Centre
County Court of Common Pleas. The trial on the defamation and
misrepresentation claims began on October 17, 2016 and conciuded October 27,
2016. Despite a request by the University, the Court did not ask the jury to answer
special interrogatories. See N.T. (10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 62:12-63:4. On October
27, 2016, the jury returned a verdict in McQueary’s favor and against the
University on both claims. The jury entered identical $1.15 million verdicts on
both claims. See Jury Verdict Form (Ex. A). The jury also awarded McQueary
punitive damages on the misrepresentation claim in the amount of
The University timely moved for post-trial relief. The University submits this brief

in support of that motion.

[«
. D

o

I

On November 4, 2011, the Attorney General of Pennsylvania filed criminal
charges against Jerry Sandusky based on his improper sexual conduct with
children. See Complaint (Ex. B) at 4 26. At the time of several of these offenses,
Sandusky was affiliated with the University. See id. at § 10. Testimony showed
that Sandusky was also deeply involved with The Second Mile, a non-profit

organization to help underprivileged youth. See N.T. (10/17/2016 (A.M.)) at

' The whistleblower claim was adjudicated by the Court in a separate opinion
on November 30, 2016, and the post-trial motion is due after the Court considers
McQueary’s fee petition. See November 30 Order and Opinion (Ex. C). The

University anticipates filing a post-trial motion on the Whistleblower claim.

-5-
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77:19-21. Sandusky’s indictment and eventual conviction were based, in part, on
McQueary’s observations. See id. at 75:7-25.

McQueary alieged that when he reported his observations to University
officials in 2001, Curley and Schultz intentionally misrepresented to him that they
would take the matter seriously, conduct a proper investigation, and take
appropriate action. See Complaint (Ex. B). According to McQueary, these
intentional misrepresentations caused him harm starting ten years later in 201 1.

See id. at §9 60-64. McQueary also alleged that he was defamed by a forward-

J

looking statement of support made by President Spanier in 2011 on
University officials who spoke with McQueary ten years earlier. See id. at Y 51-

55. McQueary further alleged that the University retaliated against him for his role

A ~+ € AL
. at TU.

e

in the Sandusky investigation.
According to trial testimony, in February 2001, McQueary entered the
locker room at the University’s Lasch Building. He testified as follows: he heard

a running shower

.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 47:4-6. He
also saw a reflection of Sandusky and a boy under a showerhead with Sandusky’s

“arms wrapped around him in a severely inappropriate position.” See N.T.

(10/21/2016

NI/ & LT

(A.M.)) at 47:4-15; 47:19-48:2. McQueary also testified that he made
some noise to make his presence known and left Sandusky and the child in the

locker room. N.T. (10/21/2016 (AM)) at 47:19-48:2; (10/21/2016 (P.M.)) at

-6-



170:14-170:25. McQueary testified that on the next day, he reported what he saw
to head football coach, Joe Paterno. N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 51:5-10.
Paterno, according to McQueary’s testimony, then reported McQueary’s
observations to the Athletic Director, Timothy Curley, and the Senior Vice-
President of Finance and Business, Gary Schultz. See N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at
54:12-21.

President Spanier testified that Curley and Spanier brought McQueary’s
allegations to Spanier’s attention at a meeting which occurred on February 12,

~ - ) I, Teenas ~ 1o

2011 and that the matter was further discussed in email exchanges through
February 28, 2011. See N.T. (10/20/2016 (A.M.)) at 43. According to the

evidence presented at trial, Schultz also consulted with Wendell Courtney, the

University’s outside general counsel. See N.T. (10/1 P.M

M.)) at
66:1-67:25; 79:21-80:25.
According to McQueary’s testimony, in mid-February 2001, Curley and

N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.

\/

1\) V )u. JAl' 12 21»

McQueary testified that Curley and Schultz represented to him that Sandusky’s

conduct was a “serious matter,” and they would conduct a “proper investigation,”

M 29
ction.” See N.T. (10

Al TN iy

0/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 54:22-55:4; N.T.

N et

(10/24/2016 (A.M.)) at 96:1-97:10. Due to the criminal proceedings pending

against them, Curley and Schultz asserted their Fifth Amendment rights and did

-7-
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not testify at trial in this case or otherwise participate, so their version of the
meeting is unknown. N.T. (10/25/16 (A.M.)) at 56:22-57:22.

Again according to McQueary’s testimony, “[p]ossibly ten days, roughly a
week” after that meeting, Curley called McQueary and stated “we told the Second

Mile and we’ve told Jerry he’s no longer allowed to bring kids into the facility”

T t ] A

and “we’ve decided to take Jerry’s keys away.” N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at
55:11-23. To corroborate this, McQueary also introduced into evidence a

handwritten note dated February 25, 2001 and purportedly written by Schultz that

L O | 1

references alerting The Second Mile and restricting Sandusky’s use of the
University’s facilities. See Note (Exhibit P-9) (Ex. D) and an email dated February

26, 2001 from Curley to Schultz which confirms they intended to inform The

o 1A [ g B . f‘l | [P S

Second Mile and to address Sandusky directly regarding use of University
facilities. See Email (Exhibit P-12) (Ex. E). This email was sent shortly after the

meeting that Curley and Schultz had with McQueary, which McQueary testified

4l aal
LUUK P

McQueary provided no testimony or evidence that suggests that over the

next decade he questioned the appropriateness of the actions taken by Curley and

See N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 55:12-23; N.T. (10/24/2016 (A.M.)) at

1

97:5-10. Rather, he remained involved in the football program and was promoted

to Assistant Football Coach (Wide Receivers) and Recruiting Coordinator. See

_8-



Complaint (Ex. B) at § 20; see also N.T. (10/21/2016 (P.M.)) at 16:22-17:8.
McQueary testified he also occasionally saw Sandusky at the football facilities. See

N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 56:23-57:14

In late 2010, McQueary began cooperating with an investigation by the

Attorney General’s Office into Sandusky’s conduct. See Complaint (Ex. B) at ¥ 22.
In December 2010, McQueary testified before the grand jury. id. at §23. In
January 2011, Curley, Schultz, and Paterno testified before the grand jury. In April
2011, Spanier testified before the grand jury. In November 2011, the grand jury
issued a presentment charging Sandusky with over 40 counts of sex crimes. See
N.T. (10/17/2016 (A.M.)) at 40:18-41:1. Curley and Schultz were charged with
perjury for their grand jury testimony. Id. In his testimony, McQueary expressed

shock that Curley was in trouble with the law,

(10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 68:17-69:3.

On November 5, 2011, President Spanier released the following statement of

The allegations about a former coach are troubling, and it

is appropriate that they be investigated thoroughly.

Protecting children requires the utmost vigilance.

t er presentments, [ wish to say that
Tim Curley and Gary Schultz have my unconditional
support. I have known and worked daily with Tim and

Gary for more than 16 years. I have complete confidence

in how they have handled the allegations about a former
University employee.

9.



Tim Curley and Gary Schuitz operate at the highest
levels of honesty, integrity and compassion. I am
confident the record will show that these charges are
groundless and that they conducted themselves
professionally and appropriately.

Graham Spanier

See Statement (Exhibit D-20) (Ex. F). Spanier allegedly repeated similar

sentiment during meetings with the athletic department. See N.T. (10/21/2016

-

(P.M.)) at 185:11-20.
After news broke of the indictment, the University received hateful, vile

messages directed against McQueary including death threats directed at him. See

T 1 m 7 1 1\1

N.T. (10/24/2016 (P.M 19:12 2

6 (P.M.)) at 19:12-19:22.
McQueary left the locker room without physically intervening between Sandusky

and the child. See N.T. (10/17/2016 (P.M.)) at 143:4-143:13. On November 11,

1

WA N ;W PO IR | Of D an N 1/9N14
1, icyuedry was placed o1 lp d administrative leave. See N. IFPAVERY)

2011
(A.M.)) at 100:9-101:10.

In January 2012, Bill O’Brien was named head coach of the football

program. H

¢}

appointment with the University expired on June 30, 2012. See N.T. (10/21/2016

(P.M.)) at 90:22-91:1.
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STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Post-trial motions play an important role in the adjudicative process. “Such

opportunity to review, research, and correct the numerous difficult impromptu trial

decisions before they are submitted for review on appeal.” Lee v. Southeastern Pa.

ransp. Auth., 704 A.2d 180, 183 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1997). The

judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, a new trial.

Alternatively, the University seeks molding of the compensatory awards and

1. STANDARD FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING VERDICT

{ INOYVWY
\UL‘U v }
There are two bases upon which a trial court may award judgment
notwithstanding the verdict. “[O]ne, the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter
of law and/or two, the evidence is such that no two reasonable minds could

disagree that the outcome should have been rendered in favor of the movant.”

Campo v. St. Luke’s Hosp., 755 A.2d 20, 23 (Pa. Super. 2000). “With the first, the

court reviews the record and concludes that even with all factual inferences
decided adverse to the movant the law nonetheless requires a verdict in his favor,
whereas with the second the court reviews the evidentiary record and concludes
that the evidence was such that a verdict for the movant was beyond
peradventure.” Id.

-11-



II. STANDARD FOR A NEW TRIAL

Trial courts have broad discretion to grant or deny a new trial. Harman v.

RAar
DOorai,

effective instrumentality for seeking and achieving justice in those instances where

the original trial, because of taint, unfairness or error, produces something other

i e]
L1

[N

bl

proceedings.” Id. at 1121 (quoting Dornon v. McCarthy, 195 A.2d 520, 522 (Pa.

1963). A new trial is appropriate when, as here, the trial court “committed an error

of law

ay
vy

~
Lons

discretion.” Duncan v. Mercy Catholic Med. Ctr. of Southeastern Pa., 813 A.2d 6,

10-12 (Pa. Super. 2002), appeal denied, 573 Pa. 716, 828 A.2d 350 (2003).

. REMITTITUR

-~

It is the responsibility of the judiciary to keep jury awards within reasonable

bounds. Haines v. Raven Arms, 640 A.2d 367, 370 (Pa. 1994), as supplemented,

652 A.2d 1280 (1995). A trial court should grant a request for remittitur “when a

verdict that is supported by evidence suggests that a jury was guided by partiality,

prejudice, mistake or corruption.” See Sprague v. Walter, 656 A.2d 890, 924 (Pa.
Super. 1995). The trial court must determine whether the award of damages “falls

within the uncertain limits of fair and reasonable compensation or whether the

-12-
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verdict so shocks the sense of justice as to suggest that the jury was influenced by
partiality, prejudice, mistake, or corruption.” Haines, 640 A.2d at 369.
IV. MOLDING THE VERDICT
A trial court has the power to mold a jury's verdict to conform to the clear

intent of the jury. Groh v. Philadelphia Electric Co., 271 A.2d 265, 270 (Pa. 1970).

to make the record accord with the facts, or to cause the verdict to speak the truth

and not a power to enable a judge to invade the province of the jury.” House of

449 A.2d 697, 702 (Pa. 1982) (citations omitted)

WALGAVINI IS AR UUNAR .

LEGAL ANALYSIS

L. MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE
VERDICT OR FOR A NEW TRIAL

A. THE COURT PREJUDICED THE UNIVERSITY WHEN IT
ERRONEOUSLY FOUND AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT
CURLEY, SCHULTZ, AND SPANIER WERE MANDATED
REPORTERS UNDER PENNSYLVANIA LAW

At trial, the Court raised sua sponte the issue of whether Pennsylvania law

required Spanier, Curley, and Schultz to report McQueary’s observations to the

reporters. See generally Complaint (Ex. B). McQueary never raised this issue at

trial. See generally N.T. (10/17/2016 — 10/27/2016).

would instruct the jury that “if the jury finds as a fact that Mr. McQueary told Mr.
-13-



Curley that what he observed was sexual in nature and that Mr. Curley repeated
that to Schultz and Spanier, that [sic] all three of those persons are mandated
reporters.” N.T. (10/27/2016) at 6:4-9. The Court found this position supported by
an email chain between Curley, Schultz, and Spanier where Spanier claimed they
could be “vulnerable for not having reported it.” Id. at 6:10-16; Plaintiff’s Exhibit
10 (Ex. G). This instruction was erroneous and essentially sealed the University’s
fate as to all claims. As the Court recognized, “I don’t know how the defense can
take the position he told them something else [other than the acts were sexual in
nature] when Dr. Spanier is indicating they are vulnerable to [sic] not having
reported it....” N.T. (10/27/2016) at 6:21-25.

The University argued that Curley, Schultz, and Spanier did not come into

=
-

contact with children in their profession so the record failed to suppor
were mandated reporters under the statute. See id. at 7:20-25; 8:2-5. The
University also objected by explaining that one could interpret Spanier’s comment

in several ways. Se

O Tha{ass A~
“4=-1¥. 111T L Ooull 1IVIIC

(¢Y]

1 ™M A1
id. at /:

“judicial notice of the law and define the law.” 1d. at 9:13-14. See also N.T.

(10/27/2016) at 156:2-4 (restating objection).

that the conduct he observed was sexual, either Curley or Schultz was required to

-14-



report McQueary’s observations to the Department of Public Welfare or Children

and Youth Services. The instruction read as follows:
Now, if you find as fact, and I'm not suggesting it, but if
you find as fact that Mr. McQueary reported to Mr.
Curley that the conduct he observed between Mr.
Sandusky and the boy in the shower that night was of a
sexual nature, I tell you as a matter of law that Mr.
Curley was a mandated reporter and was required to
report that to the police and either the Department of
Public Welfare or Children and Youth Services, whatever
was the appropriate agency at that point in time, and that
you ﬂnd it — but 1f you find that Mr. McQueary was told
by Mr. Curley and/or Mr. Schultz that appropriate action
would be taken, and at the time they made that statement,
that was a false statement and that Mr. McQueary relied
upon that and that Mr. McQueary has subsequently
suffered harm, then Mr. McQueary would be entitled to
prevail on the misrepresentation claim. If you find that
Mr. Curley told Mr. Schultz and/or told Dr. Spanier what

it is that Mr. 1v1u\,guca1’y Says he told Mr. Curley —1in

other words, it was conduct of a sexual nature — Mr.
Schultz and Dr. Spanier were also mandated reporters,

anAd ¢t " 1
and they were required to report it to the police and/or t

appropriate agency, DPW or Children and Youth
Services.

o
11w

N.T. (10/27/2016) at 148:20-149:23. When the jury asked for a clarification on the

mandated reporters:

[T]f you find as a fact that Mr. McQueary told Mr. Curley
and/or Mr. Schultz and neither one of them told Dr.
Spanier that the conduct he observed was one of a sexual
in nature, that [sic] they are mandated reporters and
appropriate action and proper investigation would

-15-
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include reporting it to the police and DPW or Child and
Youth Services, the appropriate agency.

I1d. at 178:2-10. The court’s clarification was different from its first instruction,

and neither the instruction nor clarification was consistent with the law in place in

2001, the time M

Schultz. No mention is made in the clarification that McQueary was required to

characterize the events he observed as sexual in nature. Rather, the Court stated

McQueary reported activities that were sexual in nature. Both versions of the

instructions were erroneous and the change itself was prejudicial as it likely led to

In 2001, when McQueary reported his observation to the University,
Pennsylvania law contained a mandated reporter provision, which was codified in

the Child Protective Services Law. See 23 Pa.C.S. § 6301, et seq. The mandated

¥ R

reporter provision required “persons who, in the course of their employment,
occupation, or practice of their profession, come into contact with children shall
report or cause to be made . . . when they have reasonable cause to suspect . . . that
a child coming before them in their profession or official capacity is an abused
child.” 23 Pa.C.S. §6311 (2001). No evidence showed that either Curley, or
Schultz, or Spanier qualified as a mandated reporter under the 2001 version of the

law. Specifically, no evidence was presented that they (1) came into contact with

-16-
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children as part of their profession; or, (2) that an abused child come before them
in their professional or official capacity.

The 2001 version of the statute listed several professions whose practitioners
were considered mandated reporters. Those professions included “school
administrator.” 23 Pa.C.S. § 6311(B) (2001). The inclusion of “school
administrator” in that list may have mistakenly persuaded the Court that Spanier,
Schultz, and Curley were mandated reporters as the Court quickly interjected "and
school administrator" when the University's counsel was arguing that the record

1 s Viala¥iaYa' ~4 Q

id not support they were mandated reporters. N.T. (10/27/2016) at 8:1. However,

-
-
-
)
:

an analysis of the 2001 version of the statute makes clear that "school

administrator” did not include university administrators.

X 1 e arl
1

Vhile the statute referred to sch
law did not define school. See 23 Pa.C.S. at §§ 6303, 6311. Nothing suggests that
the definition of "school" refers to postsecondary institutions such as the

t, minors do
Further, the term "school administrator" was followed by "school teacher" and
"school nurse" both terms regularly used in primary and secondary education, but
tion. See 23 Pa.C.S. at § 6311. Nota

professions set forth in Section 6311 does not include professors, deans, provosts,

teaching assistants, or resident assistants, occupational terms more common to a

-17-



University setting. Here, there was no record evidence provided to show that
Curley, Schultz, or Spanier met this definition or fell within any of the professions
on the list.

The "plain language" of section 6311 "covers members of those professions

who regularly meet with children." See Caswell v. BJ's Wholesale Co., 5 F. Supp.

~ RSy

2d 312, 317 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (emphasis added). This interpretation is "borne out by
§ 6311(b) which lists, as examples of persons required to report[:] doctors, nurses,

clergy members, teachers, police, and social workers." Id. This statute's list of

professions includes only professions who come into regular contact with children.
While University administrators may occasionally come into contact with a minor,

they do not do so on a regular basis so as to make them mandated reporters under

a1 annt1 oot ~e<r (1. ~1.1: als tanlaviAnvnnno A At AN
the 2001 version 01 tne I . . (o1dai ¢ b thhlllblau du 10t come

a
=
3
fa—

into regular enough contact with children to be mandated reporters). Unlike those

professions, again here, the trial record did not establish that Curley, Schultz, or

2 Governor Thomas Corbett and the legislative leaders of the General
Assembly in light of the Sandusky investigation created a task force to review the

T AANYTIT MAMAARARAAANT D TDANADT T

mandated reporter statute. See JOINT STATE GOV'T COMM'N REPORT OF
THE TASK FORCE ON CHILD PROTECTION (Ex. H) at pp. 10, 33. The task
force recommended that the statute be expanded to define school “to include public
and private colleges and universities, community colleges and other post-
secondary institutions where children may be involved in programs, activities or
services.” Seeid. at p. 33. See also id. at p. 59 (providing text of proposed

_18-
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Even if the first element is met, the second unmet requirement is that, before
any mandatory reporting requirement is triggered, an abused child must come
before Curley, Spanier, or Schultz in order to trigger the reporting requirements.
No evidence was presented that this occurred.

In Fewell v. Besner, 664 A.2d 577 (Pa. Super. 1995), the Superior Court

considered whether a doctor who learned of but never came into contact with an
abused child must report the abuse. Id. at 579. The Superior Court found the
doctor did not have a reporting obligation because “[t]he plain language of . . .
children are required to report incidents of abuse.” See 1d.

Two years later, the Superior Court reached the same result after considering
a different fact pattern. In that case, a Big Brothers chapter learned that one of its

big brothers, Randall Cassel, had sexually abused a little brother. See J.LE.J. v. Tri-

County Big Brothers/Big Sisters, 692 A.2d 582 (Pa. Super. 1997). Big Brothers

suspended Cassel, but did not report him to authorities. Id.
Cassel abused another child who was not involved with the Big Brothers program.

Id. The Court held that the second child could not hold Big Brothers liable for

clearly promulgated for the protection of children, it appears that the children the

definition of “school”). If the 2001 version included postsecondary education the
statute's amendment would not have been necessary.

-19-



statute aims to protect must be in some way connected to the persons who, in the
course of their employment, come into contact with abused children.” Id. at 586.

That did not occur there. Here, in addition to the fact that no evidence
supported that they fell into the statute’s definition for mandatory reporter, no
evidence was presented that linked the child with Sandusky to Curley, Schultz, or
Spanier. As such, the Court erred when it found that Curley, Schultz, or Spanier
qualified as mandated reporters.

The proof of prejudice is manifest on the intentional misrepresentation
claim. The Court instructed the jury that ail it needed to find was that McQueary
reported that the conduct in the shower was of a sexual nature and the University
was automatically liable for intentional misrepresentation because Curley and
Schultz were mandated reporters. Based on the evidence, the jury w
into finding the University liable for intentional misrepresentation.

While McQueary did not testify that he used the word "sexual" with Curley

Paterno. See N.T. (10/21/2016 (P.M.)) at 167:7-167:11. He further told the jury

what he saw and heard. He heard slapping noises while the shower was running

wrapped around him in a severely inappropriate position." See N.T. (10/21/2016

(AM.)) at 47:4-15; 47:19-48:2. Further still, the jury was told that the criminal
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presentment charged Curley with making a false statement when he testified to the
grand jury that “he was not told by the graduate assistant that Sandusky was

1

engaged in sexual conduct or anal sex with a boy in the Lasch Building showers.’
See N.T. (10/24/2016 (P.M.)) at 51:1:10; see also id. at 52:19-23. McQueary
further testified that he told Curley and Schultz “what I had seen.” Id.

Based on the testimony and other evidence presented to the jury, no jury
would find that McQueary did not report sexual activity to Curley and Schultz.
This is especially true when the Court's denial of the stay motions had the effect of
depriving the jury of the testimony of
rights under the Fifth Amendment. Therefore, the Court put the rabbit in the hat by
erroneously instructing the jury that all that was needed to establish a duty to report
and make out an intentior

sexual nature. Because the Court was wrong about the law, the jury's verdict was

tainted and must be vacated.

undercut any defamation defense the University could present. The basis of the
defamation claim was Spanier's statement that he had confidence that the record
would show that Curley and Schultz acted professionally and appropriately. Self-
evidently, if Spanier knew that Curley and Spanier were mandated reporters, but

did not report McQueary's observations, his support would be merely feigned,
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leading the jury to find that Spanier knowingly made a false statement. As a result,
the erroneous mandated reporter instruction fundamentally prejudiced the
University's defamation defense.

The prejudice is also amplified because the Court refused to issue a stay that
would have permitted Curley and Schultz to testify at the conclusion of their
criminal proceedings. The prejudice was further amplified by the Court's
instruction to the jury that Curley and Schultz's failure to testify justified an
adverse inference against the University. That adverse inference bolstered the
mistaken conclusion that the record showed that Curley and Schultz were
mandated reporters who failed in fulfilling their obligations.

The Court should not have instructed the jury that Curley, Schultz, and

reporter status to bolster the misrepresentation claim. Judgment notwithstanding
the verdict is appropriate because without the mistaken instruction on Curley's,
support the misrepresentation claim. Similarly, judgment notwithstanding the
verdict is appropriate for the defamation claim, which also concerns the adequacy
of the actions taken by Curley and Schultz

Additionally, an erroneous jury instruction will be deemed sufficient to

result in a new trial when “the charge as a whole is inadequate or not clear or has a

09
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tendency to mislead or confuse rather than clarify a material issue.” Lewis v. CRC

Ind., Inc., 7 A. 3d 841, 844 (Pa. Super. 2010). Furthermore, a new trial 1s justified

where the charge can be shown to have caused fundamental prejudice. Pringle v.
Rappaport, 980 A.2d 159 (Pa. Super. 2009) (finding that because the erroneous
instruction likely misled the jury, rather than clarifying the legal principle at issue,

the moving party was entitled to a new trial); Gorman v. Costello, 929 A.2d 1208

(Pa. Super. 2007) (granting a new trial because the trial court's instruction left the

jury without essential tools needed to make an informed decision based on correct
and complete legal principies). The Court's instruction was akin to taking the case
out of the jury's hands and directing a verdict™ in favor of McQueary. If the Court

does not enter judgment of the University's behalf, it should grant a new trial on

______

B THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT MCQUEARY
PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT AN
INTENTIONAL MISREPRESENTATION CLA

At the close of McQueary’s evidence, the University moved for a

compulsory non-suit on McQueary’s intentional misrepresentation claim because
McQueary’s evidence was insufficient to support that claim. See N.T. (10/25/2016
(A.M.)) at 63:21-69:2; Non-Suit Brief (Ex. I). The Court denied the Motion. See

N.T. (10/25/2016 (A.M.)) at 67:25-69:2. The Court should reconsider now and

-23.



enter judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, grant a new trial
on the misrepresentation claim.

McQueary based his intentional misrepresentation claim on three statements
purportedly made by Curley and Schultz to him at a February 2001 meeting. See
Complaint (Ex. B) at 14 15-16, 59-64;° N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 45; 51, 54.
McQueary claimed that Curley and Schultz told him in February 2001: (1) “that
they thought it [— what McQueary reported to them and to Coach Paterno —| was a
serious matter”; (2) “that they would see that it was properly investigated”; and (3)

[T LT} aTay

‘that appropriate action would be taken.” Id., [ 16, 60.

(1). Standard for Establishing Intentional Misrepresentation
(Fraud)

To establish an intentional misrepresentation in Pennsylvania, a plaintiff

must prove by clear and convincing evidence the following elements: (1)

that the recipient will thereby be induced to act; (4) justifiable reliance by the
recipient upon the misrepresentation; and (5) damages to the recipient as a

proximate result. Pittsburgh Live, 615 A.2d at 441-42. Further, a plaintiff must

show that the fraud was committed knowingly or through conscious ignorance of

the truth. B.O. v. C.O., 590 A.2d 313, 316 (Pa. Super. 1991). “Unsupported

* In paragraph 60 of the Complaint, McQueary mistakenly alleged the
meeting occurred in 2011. See id. at § 60.

24-



assertions and conclusory accusations cannot create genuine issues of material fact

as to the existence of fraud.” Hart v. Arnold, 884 A.2d 316, 339 (Pa. Super. 2005).

Here, McQueary’s evidence was deficient in several ways.

(2). McQueary Did Not Establish a Misrepresentation
McQueary did not satisfy the first element of a misrepresentation claim: a

/25/2016 (A.M.})) at 63:25-66:14; 67:16-24; Non-
Suit Brief (Ex. I). First, McQueary alleged that Curley and Schultz falsely

represented that they thought his allegations were serious. That was no
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ven without the testimony of Furley and Schultz, the record
demonstrated that Curley and Schultz took the matter seriously. First, the term

“seriously” is subjective and since it is subject to various interpretations, it is not a

(Pa. Cmwlth. 1991). President Spanier testified that Curley and Schultz brought
McQueary’s allegations to his attention at a meeting which occurred on February
12, 2011 and they followed-up in email exchanges through February 28, 2011. See
N.T. (10/20/2016 (A.M.)) at 44:24-47:3 (quoting Exhibit P-10). President Spanier
testified that the fact that Curley and Schultz elevated this matter to him was
consistent with the handling of a serious matter as the volume of matters which a
university president has to address at any time requires that senior administrator

handle most issues without input from the president. See id. at 43:11-21. Schultz

5.



also sought advice from the University’s outside general counsel, Wendell
Courtney, showing that he took McQueary’s allegations seriously. See N.T.

- 7 —

(10/17/2016 (P.M.)) at 62:11-64:4; 66:1-67:25; 79:21-80:

25.

McQueary also based his misrepresentation claim on Curley and Schultz’s
representation that the matter would be properly investigated and appropriate
action would be taken. See Compiaint (Ex. B) at §§ 15-16. McQueary testified
that “possibly ten days, roughly a week” after their meeting, Curley called him and
stated “we told the Second Mile and we’ve told Jerry he’s no longer allowed to

[T A =

facility” and “we’ve decided t 77 N.T

bring kids into the ry’s keys away.” N.T.

(10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 55:11-23. To corroborate this, Plaintiff also introduced

into evidence a handwritten note dated February 25, 2001 and purportedly written

of the University’s facilities. See Note (Exhibit P-9) (Ex. D) and an email dated

February 26, 2001 from Curley to Schultz which confirms they intended to inform

facilities. See Email (Exhibit P-12) (Ex. E). This email was sent shortly after the
meeting that Curley and Schultz had with McQueary, which McQueary testified
took place on February 22 or 23, 2001.

McQueary did not question the appropriateness of the investigation or

Curley and Schultz’s subsequent actions. Indeed, McQueary expressed shock that

-26-



Curley was in trouble with the law, “he could not believe it.” See N.T.
(10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 68:10-69:3. Also, no evidence disputed that the Second
Mile was alerted and that Sandusky’s access to University facilities was restricted,
as Curley said they would be. As such, McQueary established no
misrepresentation and certainly did not do so by clear and convincing evidence.
The Court based its denial of non-suit on a possibie jury finding that Curley
and Schultz were mandated reporters. See N.T. (10/25/2016 (A.M.)) at 68:1-9.

But as explained in the previous section, the record did not show that Curley and

a1 1. . i PR | I R A oo 1 LLAf“A, A,,,,AJY,AL“
SCNuUilZ werc manaalca reporters. AS suci, tne wou It erred 1n fin

ing adequate
evidence to support the misrepresentation claim on that ground.

As McQueary testified, Curley and Schultz explained to him what actions
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That is not a misrepresentation. That also does not show an intention by them to

induce McQueary to act based on a false statement. As such, McQueary failed to

intentional misrepresentation.

(3). McQueary Did Not Establish Justifiable Reliance

To establish justifiable reliance, it is insufficient to simply assert fraudulent

conduct, and claim that reliance upon it induced some action. Blumenstock v.

Gibson, 811 A.2d 1029, 1038 (Pa. Super. 2002). Absent justifiable reliance, there

27-



1s no actionable fraud. Bowman v. Meadow Ridge, Inc., 615 A.2d 755, 758 (Pa.

Super. 1992). Common sense must be consulted in determining whether the
recipient of a statement acts justifiably and reasonably in relying on that statement.

See De Martino v. Albert Einstein Med. Ctr., N. Div., 460 A.2d 295, 302 (Pa.

Super. 1983). It is not reasonable or justifiable for a person to allow himself to be
“luiied into a state of acquiescence” in the face of surrounding circumstances and
common sense. See id.
Here, McQueary cannot show justifiable reliance on a misrepresentation.

T 4 o A I R - A M e Y 4 PR R B o S DY DA IR
First, as discussed above, McQueary testified that Curley and Schuitz explained to
McQueary exactly what they planned to do in light of his allegation. According to
McQueary and corroborating documentary evidence, Curley and Schultz advised
4l QO onmmae A NAT L L,
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Sandusky from bringing children into the facility, and took Sandusky’s keys away.

See N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 55:11-23; Note (Exhibit P-9) (Ex. D), Email

implied to McQueary that they would go to law enforcement or a child welfare
agency. Therefore, it was not justifiable for McQueary to rely on assurances that
were never made.

Further, since McQueary was well informed of the actions taken by the

University, he cannot plausibly claim that it was justifiable for him to not have
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called — at any time during the next decade — the State College or Pennsylvania
State Police, the Centre County District Attorney’s Office, or the Department of
Public Welfare or to have followed-up with the administration. McQueary’s life
was that University and that football team. He knew that Sandusky remained in
the community and was not criminally held responsible. N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.))
at 56:23-57:14. For these reasons, McQueary did not establish that he justifiably
relied on the statements of Curley and Schultz.

(4).  McQueary Did Not Establish Factual Causation or Legal Causation

leﬂarlv AcOuearv cannot demonstrate the 2001 statements made by
cQuecary cannot demonstrate the 2001 statements made by

Curley and Schultz factually caused or proximately caused damages to McQueary

in2011. “Conduct is a factual cause of harm when the harm would not have

absence of the act, the outcome would not have occurred.” See Gorman, 929 A.2d

at 1212. Proximate cause is present if a wrongful act “was a substantial factor in

bringing about the plaintiff's harm.” Eckroth v. Pa. Elec., 12 A.3d 422, 428 (Pa.

Super. 2010). “A determination of proximate or legal causation therefore
essentially regards ‘whether the alleged negligence was so remote that as a matter
of law, the defendant cannot be held legally responsible for the subsequent harm.’”

Id. (quoting Holt, 932 at 921). Put another way, “[p]roximate cause does not exist

where the causal chain of events resulting in plaintiff's injury is so remote as to

-29.



appear highly extraordinary that the conduct could have brought about the harm.”

See Commerce Bank v. First Union Nat’l Bank, 911 A.2d 133, 141 (Pa. Super.

~ s

2006). Therefore, the trial court must determine whether an ordinary person would
have foreseen the injury as the natural and probable outcome of the complained-of
act. Id.

When determining foreseeability, the Court should consider the following
elements: (a) the number of other factors which contribute to producing the harm
and the extent of the effect which they have in producing it; (b) whether the actor's
conduct created a force or a series of forces which are in continuous and active

operation up to the time of the harm, or has created a situation harmless unless

acted upon by other forces for which the actor is not responsible; and (c) lapse of
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To succeed with his misrepresentation claim, McQueary had the high burden

of showing by clear and convincing evidence that a decade-old representation that

would permit an ordinary person to foresee damages a decade later. McQueary
cannot meet this high standard.
As a threshold matter, “Pennsylvani

lapse of time between a defendant's alleged conduct and a plaintiffs [sic] alleged

damages can, under the right circumstances, serve as a complete bar to recovery.”
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See Zimmerman v. Zimmerman, No. CI-15-01440, 2015 Pa. Dist. & Cnty. Dec.

LEXIS 2803, at *18 (C.P. Lancaster 2015) (citing Eckroth, 12 A.3d at 428). The
delay here was a decade long. The passage of time in this situation 1s sufficient to
find a lack of factual or proximate cause. This is not a latent situation that
foreseeably exposed itself years later like a slow growing cancer that a physician
failed to tell his patient about when it was first discovered. Rather, McQueary
knew he, the witness, was not approached for a decade by law enforcement or

child welfare. McQueary also worked at the University and lived in the

community. He had ample opportunity to observe that Sandusky st ffere

criminal consequences. See N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 56:23-57:14. He had

ample opportunity to ask Curley, Paterno, Spanier, or Schultz about the status of

causation are not present here. According to McQueary’s own testimony, he knew

that he was the only person to witness the alleged conduct in the shower. See N.T.

(10/20/2016 (P.M.)) at 50:17-51:51:9; N.T

0/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 49:5-17. No
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law enforcement officer had ever followed up with him during that decade. It is
beyond the pale for him to now claim that he did not learn until 2011 that no
gation h n done. See N.T. (10/21/2016 (P.M.)) at 178:9-179:7.

McQueary’s argument in support of causation strains logic. McQueary’s

allegation is that Curley and Schultz’s comments were meant to induce him to not
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report Sandusky’s actions to law enforcement. See Complaint (Ex. B) at §61. But
that argument only makes sense (arguably) if there was no follow up from Schultz
and Curley. However, the undisputed facts are that no more than two weeks after
the alleged representation, Curley and Schultz followed up with McQueary to
inform him of the actions they took. N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 55:11-23.
McQueary raised no objection. See N.T. (10/23/2016 (A.M.)) at 54:17-55:23.
McQueary introduced no evidence that Curley and Schultz either stated or
implied that they reported or planned to report Sandusky to law enforcement or a
child welfare agency. If McQueary felt tha
there is no evidence that anything allegedly said by Curley or Schultz would have

caused him not to report his observations. As such, there is no evidence that

McQueary not alerting the authorities. As for proximate cause, an ordinary person

would not think that Curley and Schultz induced him not to report his observations

investigate the matter and take appropriate actions did not create “a force or a

series of continuous forces” that led to McQueary’s harm. Commerce Bank, 911

A.2d at 141, Rather, once they gave McQueary an update (which
alerting law enforcement or child welfare), the force no longer exerted any power

over McQueary. He was under no inducement to stay silent about what he saw.
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Finally, McQueary asserted that the misrepresentations made it appear that
he was part of a cover-up. N.T. (10-25-16 (A.M.) at 67:5-10. No evidence was
submitted to show that McQueary failed to find a new job due to the perception he
was involved with a cover-up. Rather, the reasons provided at trial for
McQueary;s inability to find employment were that he walked out of the locker
room without intervening on behalf of the boy and that his presence would cause a
media frenzy that would distract from a new coach and athletic director. N.T.

(10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 3:2-7; (10/20/2016 (P.M.)) at 79:11-80:12 99:19-100:3;

h U ale al 4 12

N.T. (10/21/2016 (P.M.)) at 141:15-142:9.

For all these reasons, McQueary failed to show by clear and convincing
evidence that any statements by Curley and Schultz proximately caused him any
ct, no evidence supported McQueary’s misrepresentation claim at

all. Curley and Schultz made no misrepresentation.* Further, the Court erred by

instructing the jury that it was required to find the University liable for

sexual misconduct against a minor and they were mandated reporters under

Pennsylvania Law.

Relatedly, as discussed in Section I(A) of the Legal Analysis, the Court
erred by tying the misrepresentation claim to the status of Curley, Schultz, and
Spanier as mandated reporters. No evidence established that they were mandated
reporters. See supra Section I of Legal Analysis.
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(5). The Statute of Limitations for the Intentional Misrepresentation Claim
Lapsed

In addition to the above, the time to file the misrepresentation claim has

passed. A plaintiff has two years to bring an action for injury based on intentional

occurred in mid-February 2001. See N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 54:12-21.

McQueary waited until 2012 to file his complaint, about eight years after the

time. See Answer to Complaint (Ex. AA) at 9 75 (pleading statute-of-limitations

new matter).

exercise any due diligence to determine whether the University contacted

authorities about Sandusky’s conduct. See Wilson v. El-Daief, 964 A.2d 354, 356

(Pa. 2009). McQueary remained affiliated with the University and had access to
his Athletic Director, Curley; his boss, Joe Paterno; and other University officials
to further inquire about whether the University took any additional steps as a result
of Sandusky’s actions. He did not do so. Moreover because McQueary knew he
had not been contacted by law enforcement, he also should have known there were
not any law enforcement investigations being done. Accordingly, the statute of
limitations has lapsed and entry of judgment notwithstanding the verdict is

appropriate. See N.T. (10/21/2016 (P.M.)) at 178:9-179:7.
-34-



(6). Conclusion

For all the foregoing reasons, the Court should enter judgment

grant a new trial.

C. THE ALLEGED DEFAMATORY STATEMENT WAS AN
OPINION THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW WAS NOT

DEFAMATORY
To be adjudged defamatory, a communication must have been found to have
the defamatory meaning ascribed to it by the complaining party. See Baker v.

Lafayette Coll., 532 A.2d 399, 402 (Pa. 1987). To reach this conclusion, the court

must view the statements in context and “determine whether the statement was
maliciously written or published and tended ‘to blacken a person’s reputation or to
expose him to public hatred, contempt, or ridicule, or to injure him in his business

or profession.” (citations omitted). Id. (quoting Corabi v. Curtis Publishing Co.,

273 A.2d 899, 904 (1971)). An “opinion without more does not create a cause of
action” for defamation. Id. To overcome this rule, the “allegedly libeled party
must demonstrate that the communicated opinion may reasonably be understood to
imply the existence of undisclosed defamatory facts justifying the opinion.” Id.

(citing Beckman v. Dunn, 419 A.2d 583, 587 (Pa. Super. 1980)).

McQueary’s defamation claim is based on a statement released by President

Spanier after the indictments of Curley and Schultz were announced:
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TRT Y T

ar YTAT AT
URIWULINAL

The allegations about a former coach are troubling, and it is
appropriate that they be investigated thoroughly. Protecting
children requires the utmost vigilance.

With regard to the other presentments, I wish to say that Tim
Curley and Gary Schultz have my unconditional support. I have
known and worked daily with Tim and Gary for more than 16
years. I have complete confidence in how they have handled the

former University employee.

Tim Curley and Gary Schultz operate at the highest levels of
honesty, integrity and compassion. [ am confident the record
will show that these charges are groundless and that they
conducted themselves professionally and appropriately.

Graham Spanter

See Complaint (Ex. B) at §§ 50-58; Statement (Exhibit D-20) (Ex. F). McQu
further alleged that these statements were repeated by President Spanier at the
Athletic Department staff meetings. See id. at § 51.

This statement does not
wrongdoing by anyone who would be commonly understood to be McQueary.
Rather, it states President Spanier’s confidence in the men he had worked with for

~uar 1A
UvelL 1V

record will show that these charges are groundless. . ..” Complaint (Ex. B) at 4

50-58. David Joyner, the Athletic Director who replaced Curley, testified as such:

knowledge specific to those statements made.” N.T. (10/19/2016 (P.M.)) at

156:23-157:19; see id. at 127:2-11. This is not a defamatory statement, but an
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opinion that Spanier’s long experience with these officials led him to believe that

they conducted themselves properly.

The case of Gordon v. Lancaster Osteopathic Hosp. Ass'n., 489 A.2d

1364, 1369 (Pa. Super. 1985) is instructive. The court considered whether a letter
by physicians to a hospital’s board of directors that expressed “a vote of no
confidence” in the hospital’s pathologist, “a lack of confidence,” “lack of trust in
the reporting ability of [the pathologist],” and criticism of his attitude was
defamatory. Id. at 1367. The Superior Court held that these “words . . . bear no

reasonable interpretation which would render them defamatory.” 1d.

used “do not impute a charge of incompetency or unfitness” and “state no more
than in the most general terms that appellees, speaking for their departments,
lacked confidence in appellant's professional
his contract be renewed.” 1d.

Here, the statement by Spanier did not go as far as the physician in

His statement did not mention McQueary even indirectly. If the physicians in

Gordon failed to publish a defamatory statement, Spanier certainly did not do so

For similar reasons, the University is not liable for defamation by innuendo.

See Sarkees v. Warner-West Corp., 37 A.2d 544, 546 (Pa. 1944). When words are
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“not susceptible of the meaning ascribed to them by the plaintiff and do not sustain
the innuendo,” the statement “cannot be made [libelous] by an innuendo which
puts an unfair and forced construction on the interpretation” of the statement.
Under Pennsylvania law, it is for the trial court to determine, in the first instance,
whether the communication complained of is capable of a defamatory meaning.

E.g., Sarandrea v. Sharon Herald Co., 30 Pa.D.&C.4th 199, 201 (C.P. Lawrence

1996); U.S. Healthcare, Inc. v. Blue Cross of Greater Philadelphia, 898 F.2d 914,

923 (3d Cir. 1990) (applying Pennsylvania law). Here, Spanier’s statement could
only be understood to express confidence in Curley and Schultz — employees with
whom he worked for over 16 years. The Court erred by not finding that the
allegedly defamatory statements were a matter of pure opinion and could not
support a defamation claim. Consequently, the University seeks judgment
notwithstanding the verdict on the defamation claim, or, in the alternative, a new
trial.
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A. THE DAMAGES AWARDED BY THE JURY WERE NOT
SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE

The University asked this Court to instruct the jury that McQueary “should
not profit from or be overcompensated for any alleged harm he sustained.” See

Proposed Points of Charge (Ex. J) at No. 45. Further, the University asked the
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court to instruct the jury that “future damages must permit more than a mere guess
or speculation.” See id. at No. 47. The Court did instruct the jury that its award
could not be speculative and any award must contain some nexus between the
harm and the reasonable level of compensation. N.T. (10/27/2016) at 138:13-22.
The jury rendered identical compensatory damage awards ($1.15 million)

_ 4+

See Jury Verdict Slip

for both the misrepresentation and the defamation claim. S
(Ex. A). Because the issues in this case were so intertwined, the University

proposed that it provide the Court with special interrogatories in addition to a
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sample verdict slip to reduce th
(P.M.)) at 62:12-17. See also November 30, 2016 Order and Opinion of Court

(recognizing that claims are intertwined). The judge refused the University’s

request to submit special interrogatories, instructing it to only submit a
straightforward verdict slip. N.T. (10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 62:15-63:4. The court

limited the verdict slip to a determination of whether the University was liable on

Such a verdict slip was inadequate to prevent an improper duplication of damages.
The next day when the University looked to submit both special interrogatories and

idavit of George Morrison
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The jury’s identical verdict of $1.15 million in compensatory damages for
each claim suggests that the jury awarded double damages in the case.” Itisa
basic principle of tort law that damages are intended to put the injured person “in a
position as nearly as possible equivalent to his or her position prior to the tort.”

Moorhead v. Crozier Chester Med. Ctr., 765 A.2d 786, 790 (Pa. 2001) (citing

L.

Trotsky v. Civil Serv. Comm’n, 652 A.2d 813, 817 (Pa. 1995)).

established, however, that a court will not allow that person to recover twice for

the same injury. Rossi v. State Farm Auto. Ins. Co., 465 A.2d 8, 10 (Pa. Super.

OQAN fatdimes Tl vcanin o e o Ay 109 A In D 1
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award which provides a windfall to a plaintiff “would violate fundamental tenets of
just compensation.” Moorhead, 765 A.2d at 790. Because special interrogatories

werc not permi
for each claim.

Regardless of the issue of the use of special interrogatories, the award was

future at the University once Paterno left either due to the Sandusky matter or his
death soon after. In fact, his severance agreement contemplated his separation

rom the University a ead coach. See Severance

’ It is the University’s position that ther is als
1
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Umversny will address this issue in more detail in the post-trial motion for the
Whistleblower claim.

o
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Agreement (Ex. L). Furthermore, Paterno’s successor, Bill O’Brien, had a preset
list of coaches he wanted to hire including Stan Hixon for the position then filled
by McQueary. Trial Deposition of Coach William O’Brien (Ex. M) at 9:6-10:9;
20:2-24 (read into the trial record at N.T. (10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 15:8-13). More
pointedly, Coach O’Brien testified that based on McQueary’s media guide
biography nothing about him stood out that would cause Coach O’Brien to want to
meet or hire McQueary. See id. at 15:4-5, 15:9-13; 30:16-25.

Further, McQueary provided no evidence that any potential employer,
whether it be for a football or non-football position, declined to interview or hire
McQueary due to any action taken by the University. To the contrary, Coach
Rhule testified that the media coverage may have hurt McQueary’s employability.
(10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 3:2-7 (reading into
Matt Rhule (Ex. N) at 129:8-130:6). Specifically, Coach Rhule believed that
reports of McQueary leaving the boy in the shower with Sandusky would hurt his
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testified that the media attention would be a distraction for a new coach and

athletic director. See N.T. (10/20/2016 (P.M.)) at 79:11-80:12 99:19-100:3.

assessed that McQueary was “radioactive” because “[h]e is quickly remembered as

the guy that did not call the cops” and “[h]is distinctive appearance does not help.”
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N.T. (10/21/2016 (P.M.)) at 141:15-142:9. He further opines that if McQueary is

seen interviewing at Duke University it is an “instant story, perhaps not a positive

an 1'1

one.” Id. at 142:12-

17. Because McQueary cannot show that he lost any work due

to the University’s actions, any award of front pay was purely speculative and
improper.
A a1 NN N PR
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emotional damages. As such, to the extent any part of the award is compensation

for emotional damages, it is purely speculative. However, we do not know what

Court did not permit special interrogatories.

The jury’s compensatory award of $2,300,000 is the product of a mistake of

fact or law, o

-
1

discussed herein. The award was against the weight of evidence and inconsistent

with the proofs of losses McQueary allegedly sustained. It is also plainly

is empowered to enter judgment notwithstanding the verdict, award a new trial,
award on new trial as to damages only, or remit the award to comply with the

evidence.
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B. UNDER PENNSYLVANIA LAW, PUNITIVE DAMAGES ARE
AVAILABLE TO A PLAINTIFF ONLY UPON A SHOWING
OF AGGRAVATED CONDUCT BEYOND THE UNDERLYING
FRAUD, MCQUEARY DID NOT MAKE SUCH A SHOWING

The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has long held that only compensatory

Iron Works v. Barber, 102 Pa. 156, 164, 13. W.N.C. 492 (1883) (holding damages

for a misrepresentation about the quality of a boiler was “compensatory only” and

(holding that the measure of damages in an action for deceit is the “actual loss”).

In 1922, the Supreme Court first held that a fraud claimant may be awarded
unitive damages if he or she shows extreme aggravating circumstances beyond

n o
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the underlying fraud. See Long v. McAllister, 118 A. 506, 508 (Pa. 1922).

Perhaps, the clearest and strongest statement of this rule comes from the

Superior Court in Smith v. Renault, 564 A.2d 188 (Pa. Super. 1989). In Renault,

Va2 il 4 5 r / (Y ()

the Superior Court found sufficient evidence that an agent committed fraud by
misrepresenting the amount of termite damage. Renault, 564 A.2d at 192. But this
same evidence was insufficient to support a punitive damages claim, as no
evidence of malice, vindictiveness, or a wholly wanton disregard of the rights of
others was shown. Id. at 193-194. The Superior Court reasoned, “fraud which 1s
the basis for the recovery of compensatory damages . . . is not alone a sufficient

basis upon which to premise an award of punitive damages.” Id. “If the rule were

43-



otherwise, punitive damages could be awarded in all fraud cases. This is not the

law.” 1d. See, e.g., Pittsburgh Live, Inc. v. Sevov, 615 A.2d 438, 442 (1992)

. < - Lo

(holding that evidence surrounding a real estate agreement may support a fraud
claim, but could not support a punitive damages claim because no acts of malice or
vindictiveness were shown). The Third and Seventh Circuits have both interpreted

Pennsylvania law to require something more than fraud in order to permit punitive

damages. See Tunis Bros. Co., Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 952 F.2d 715, 741 (3d Cir.

1992) (holding that punitive damages will not be awarded in Pennsylvania unless

undergirding the fraud liability and compensatory damages.”); In re Lemington

Home for the Aged, 777 F.3d 629, 631 (3d Cir. 2015) (same); Contractor Ultility

0., Inc. v. 748 F.2d 1151, 1156 (7

Sales C , th Cir. 1984)

(holding that punitive damages are not an “automatic incident” of a plaintiff’s

showing of fraud at trial; rather, something must be outrageous and aggravated

about the defendant’s conduct).

Here, the University asked the Court to instruct the jury that more than an

intentional tort is required to award punitive damages to McQueary. See Proposed
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[0. 53. The Court denied the University’s request and

continued to instruct the jury that intentionality suffices to establish the imposition
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of punitive damage. See N.T. (10/27/2016) at 142:21-144:21. That instruction is
incorrect and its prejudice was not harmless.

As noted earlier, McQueary failed to establish intentional misrepresentation
at all. Even if he did, he did not show “a quantum of outrageous conduct” in
addition to the facts undergirding the misrepresentation liability that would support
punitive damages. The alleged misrepresentations were that C
were taking the matter seriously, would conduct a proper investigation, and take

appropriate action. See Complaint (Ex. B) at § 61. McQueary testified that

a call from Curley where Curley advised McQueary that they “told The Second
Mile and we’ve told Jerry he’s no longer allowed to bring kids into the facility”
and “we’ve decided to take way.” N.T. (10/21/2016 (AM.)} at

55:11-23. No evidence was shown that the misrepresentation involved anything

more than these statements. No testimony exists that any effort was made by the

agency. No evidence was provided that the University falsely claimed that an
investigation was ongoing, when it was not. Rather, Curley and Schultz truthfully
reported the steps that were taken in response to his report. As such, McQueary

has failed to show any aggravating circumstances beyond any underlying
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misrepresentation. Long v. McAllister, 118 A. 506, 508 (Pa. 1922). This error

was not harmless.

Renault, mentioned earlier, is instructive. Renauit concerned a sale of a
personal residence. During the sale of the home, the realtor advised the buyer that
the home suffered “minor termite damage, but had been repaired, so you don’t

A

need to worry about it.” Renault, 564 A.2d

[e—

90. After buying the house, Smith
discovered additional termite damage that was hidden by strips of tape covered by
paint. Id. The buyer sued the realtor for fraudulent concealment based on the
intentional misrepresentation. See id.
punitive damages in addition to compensatory damages. See id. The Superior
Court reversed and remanded for reconsideration of the punitive damage award.
hat to justify punitive damages, “there must

acts of malice, vindictiveness and a wholly wanton disregard of the rights of

others.” Id. at 193. The Court found that evidence lacking. Id. at 194. While the

seriousness and the extent to which it had been remedied, they did disclose that the

property had been infested with termites which had been exterminated.” Id. That

The facts are similar here. McQueary testified that Curley and Schultz said

that they would look into his accusations, they did and they reported the proposed
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course of action. No evidence supports that such statements were made due to
some malice, vindictiveness and a wholly wanton disregard for McQueary’s rights.
Under the standard set forth in Renault, this is insufficient to establish punitive
damages. Accordingly, this Court should enter judgment notwithstanding the
verdict and dismiss the claim for punitive damages. Alternatively, the Court
should remit the award of punitive damages or conduct a new trial on punitive
damages only.

III. MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

A. THE UNIVERSITY WAS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICED BY THE

K AARL NJ/LNYA Y RIANWIA A n AERwE.S 2 R AwaSr -— - E A S S

COURT’S REFUSAL TO STAY THIS MATTER TO PERMIT

THE UNIVERSITY TO SPEAK TO KEY WITNESSES AND
PRODUCE THOSE WITNESSES AT TRIAL

RS fma A awaland

(1). Introduction

A hallmark of a fair trial is the meaningful opportunity to offer relevant and

competent evidence on each material issue. See, €.2., Am. Future Sys., Inc. v.

Better Bus. Bureau, 872 A.2d 1202, 1212 (Pa. Super. 2005); see also Mathews v.

Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 222 (1976) (“The fundamental requirement of due process
is the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner”)
(internal citations omitted). A meaningful opportunity to be heard requires that

parties are allowed to call witnesses and proffer other admissible evidence. See

Mathews, 424 U.S. at 322.
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Here, the University was not permitted to call as witnesses or even speak to
two key witnesses, Curley and Schulz, because they were under indictment for
related, alleged conduct and chose for themselves to invoke their Fifth Amendment
privilege against self-incrimination. See N.T. (10/25/16 (A.M.)) at 56:22-57:22
(Court Exhibit 2). The University twice sought a stay to remedy this inequitable

situation. First, it moved for a stay at the beginning of the litigation. See generally

First Motion to Stay and Supporting Brief (Ex. O). Second, the University moved

for a stay after the parties engaged in discovery. See generally Second Motion to

Stay and Supporting Brief (Ex. P). The Court denied both motions. See Order and
Opinion (12/20/2012) (Ex. Q); Order and Opinion (8/15/2016) (Ex. R).

(2). Standard for Granting a Stay

advance a fair and efficient adjudication. “Incidental to this power is the power to

stay proceedings, including discovery.” Luckett v. Blaine, 850 A.2d 811, 819 (Pa.

Cmwlth. 2004).

N T -/

Parallel civil and criminal proceedings arising from the same conduct raise
unique concerns:

On the one hand, a parallel civil proceeding can vitiate
the protections afforded the accused in the criminal
proceeding if the prosecutor can use information obtained
from him through civil discovery or testimony elicited in
the civil litigation. . . . On the other hand, the pendency
of a parallel criminal proceeding can impede the search
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for truth in the civil proceeding if the accused resists
disclosure and asserts his privilege against self-
incrimination and thereby conceals important evidence.

— s\ T

See Parallel Civil & Criminal Proceedings (“Parallel Proceedings”) (Ex. S), 1

F.R.D. 201, 202 (1990) (Pollack, J.). The power to grant a continuance 1n a civil

case due to a parallel criminal proceeding is “an inherent power of a court and

A

ordinarily is discretionary.” Cotter v. State Civil Service Commission, 297 A.2d

176, 178 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1972); U.S. v. Mellon Bank, N.A., 545 F.2d 869, 873 (3d

Cir. 1976). In making such a decision, “the chief consideration 1s whether the

grant or denial {is] in furtherance of justice.” Cotter, 297 A.2d at 178. The court

must also balance the prejudice faced by the requesting party if the continuance is

not granted against the prejudice faced by the opposing party. Id.

- 4.
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related criminal case, a court should consider (1) the extent to which the issues in

the civil and criminal cases overlap; (2) the status of the criminal proceedings,

expeditious civil proceedings weighed against the prejudice to the plaintiff caused

by the delay; (4) the burden on the defendants; (5) the interests of the court; and (6)

the public interest. E.g

the public .2., In Re Adelphia Communications Securities Litigation

Civ. A. No. 02-1781, 2003 WL 22358819, at *3 (E.D. Pa. May 13, 2003) (citing

Walsh Securities, Inc. v. Cristo Prop. Mgmt. Ltd., 7 F.Supp.2d 523 (D.N.J. 1998)).
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The court should also consider the interests of non-parties. In Re Plastics

Additives Antitrust Litigation, 2004 WL 2743591, at *4 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 29, 2004);

Kaiser v. Stewart, 1997 WL 66186, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 6, 1997); Golden Quality

Ice Cream Co. v. Deerfield Specialty Papers, Inc., 87 F.R.D. 53, 56 (E.D. Pa.

1980) (all listing factors similar to those in Adelphia Communications in addition

to the interests of non-parties).
Each of these factors weighs in favor of staying this case pending resolution
of the related criminal proceedings.

(3). Substantial overlap existed between the pending criminal trials
and this civil trial.

generally regarded as the most important factor. See Adelphia Comms, 2003 WL

22358819 at *3 (citing Walsh Securities, 7 F.Supp.2d at 527); Parallel

Proceedings, 129 F.R.D. at 203.
Courts applying Pennsylvania law have granted a stay when a significant
overlap between related civil and criminal proceedings exists. In Anderson v.

Scott, 2011 WL 10795429 (C.P. Lawrence 2011), the trial court addressed a

defendant-physician’s request to stay his deposition in a wrongful death action due
to his plan to invoke the Fifth Amendment in related criminal proceedings against
him. Id. at *1-2. The criminal complaint against the defendant-physician included

similar allegations of medical malfeasance, but did not involve the decedent in the
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civil case. Id. Even though the cases involved different decedents, the court found

overlapping evidentiary issues, stating that “any evidence offered against the

-~

defendant in the civil case would be relevant to the criminal case. This factor
weighs heavily in favor of granting the defendant’s request for a protective order

and stay his deposition until a conclusion of the criminal case.” Id. See also

vy . n

Adelphia Communications, 2003 WL 22358819, at *1 (holding that since one of

24 criminal counts involved issues and allegations similar to those in the private

securities lawsuits, this factor weighed heavily in favor of the stay).

1 . -

In denying the first Motion to Stay, the Court found that “while there may
overlapping witnesses, there are no overlapping issues in the criminal and civil

cases.” See Order and Opinion (12/20/2012) (Ex. Q) at p. 7. In denying the

OA,‘_,“‘,:] Aods o s Qin- 4l k- A 4l ot dle man s Al o
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issues regarding the misrepresentation claim. See Order and Opinion (8/15/2016)

(Ex. R) at p. 5. As the Court recognized, McQueary’s misrepresentation claims
concerned Curley and Schultz’s actions during and after their investigation of

McQueary’s report. Id. Likewise, the charges of child endangerment and failure

to report suspected child abuse which Curley and Schultz were set to face in their

the defamation claim also overlaps with the issues in the criminal cases. The

allegedly defamatory statement was an expression of trust by Spanier in his two
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co-workers. Whether his trust was justified is best answered by the testimony of
Curley and Schulz regarding what they actually did.

Indeed, the overlap of issues for both the defamation claim and the
misrepresentation claim is broader than recognized by the Court. Schultz and
Curley invoked their Fifth Amendment privilege with respect to the following
issues, each of which is highly relevant in this case: (1) all facts and circumstances
regarding their knowledge and involvement in a 1998 incident involving Sandusky
and a child; (2) all facts and circumstances regarding Curley and Schultz’s 2001
involvement with McQueary’s alleged report o
misconduct” as between Sandusky and a child; (3) all information regarding the

2001 alleged verbal communications and meeting(s) between them and McQueary

duties with the University; and (5) various 2011 communications between them

and non-parties regarding the allegations of the Complaint. See Second Motion to

at § 29 (citing Deposition Transcript of Timothy Curley at pp. 46-54). All of these

issues are critical to the University’s defenses.

misrepresentation allegations and the pending criminal actions against Curley and

Schulz, it did not find that this factor weighed in favor of a stay. See Order and

-30-



Opinion (8/15/16) (Ex. R) at p. 5. In fact, the Court found that this factor weighed
against a stay. Id. According to the Court, the University “[c]ertainly . . . as the
possessor of its own records had had adequate time to search them to determine
what, if any, action they took in order to refute [McQueary’s] claim.” Id. The
Court had no factual basis to find that the University possessed any records
regarding Curley and Schultz’s investigation and subsequent actions. In fact, the
University did not. Further, even if records did exist, the University should have

had an opportunity to question Curley and Schultz about them.
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Additionally, the Court found t
enable the Court to assess and address the impact of . . . Curley[’s] and Schultz’s

unavailability on any verdict rendered on the misrepresentation count and take

request for special interrogatories. See N.T. (10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 62:12-63:4.

The Court erred when it twice found that this factor weighed against a stay.

(4). The Status of the Criminal Proceedings Weighed in Favor of a
Stavy.

et A

The second factor is the status of the criminal proceedings, including
whether any defendants had been indicted. “The strongest case for a stay in a civil
case occurs during a criminal prosecution after an indictment is returned.” Parallel

Proceedings, 129 F.R.D. at 204; Adelphia Communications, 2003 WL 22358819,
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at *3. The need for a stay is greatest after an indictment is returned because of the
potential for self-incrimination faced by the criminal defendants, and any prejudice

to the civil litigants is mitigated because the criminal case 1s iikely to be resoived

promptly under the jurisdiction’s speedy-trial rules. Walsh Securities, 7 F.Supp.2d
at 527 (quoting Parallel Proceedings (Ex. S), 129 F.R.D. at 203). Further, the
prevailing case law in Pennsylvania and its neighboring district courts provides
that delaying a civil matter is appropriate when a criminal trial is reasonably close

at hand. Anderson, 2011 WL 10795429, at *2-3 (citing State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.

., 2002 WL 31111766, at *3 (U.S.D.C. 2002).

|(‘)

Here, both Curley and Schultz are under indictment for allegedly criminal

acts based on the same critical facts and circumstances that underlie the claims

A — J 1 —

asserted by McQueary in this case. Schultz and Curley invoked their F
Amendment privilege and refused to discuss the claims in the instant civil action.
The stage of the criminal proceedings favored a stay of this action. The Dauphin
County Court of Common
that the criminal matters were moving forward with meaningful progress. See

Scheduling Order (Ex. T). Indeed, trial is now scheduled for next month, March
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necessary to prevent manifest injustice.

(5). The Issuance of a Stay Would Not Have Unfairly Prejudiced
McQueary.
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The third factor is the prejudice to the plaintiff caused by the delay. To
show prejudice, the plaintiff must establish “more prejudice than simply a delay in
his right to expeditiously pursue his claim. . . . Instead, the plaintiff must

demonstrate a particularly unique injury, such as the dissipation of assets or an

attempt to gain an unfair advantage from the stay.” Adelphia Communications,

A

2003 WL 22358819, at *4. In Adelphia Communications, the District Court found

that the plaintiffs did not demonstrate sufficient prejudice to warrant lifting the

stay, as they had not shown “any prejudice other than delay in pursuing their suits,

» T

which is insufficient to support vacating the stay.” Id. at *4 (citing Walsh

cu

Securities, 7 F.Supp.2d at 528).

Here, McQueary cannot establish a “particularly unique injury.” Once
Coach P
McQueary was likely out of a job. See Severance Agreement (Ex. L); N.T.
(10/26/2016 (A.M.)) at 88:21-90-12. Regardless of whether the trial proceeded,
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the locker room with the boy would likely adversely affect his ability to find a new

job. Therefore, his lack of employment was not attributable to the stay. A stay

time of the University’s second request for a stay, McQueary had already received

a voluminous amount of written discovery and he had conducted numerous
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depositions of his self-identified key witnesses. Accordingly, McQueary would
not suffer any economic harm from a stay. If after a stay he had been successful

on any of his claims, he would have been able to recover interest as part of his

judgment. See Walsh Securities, 7 F.Supp.2d at 528. Further, as evidenced by the

criminal court’s May 25, 2016 scheduling order, trial was set to commence in the
near future and is now expected to start next month.

On ruling on the second motion for a stay, the court stated that this factor
was “dispositive.” Order and Opinion (8/15/2016) (Ex. R) at p. 5. However,
despite the importance the Court placed on this factor, it
“informal” information from McQueary that he was unable to get a job and that he
had expended the resources available to him. The University was prejudiced by
the Court’s refusal to conduct a hearing to have McQueary ma
penalty of perjury that he had suffered a unique injury. He could not make such a

showing. This factor supported a stay.

(6). The Failure to Impose a Stay Significantly Impeded the
University’s Ability to Prepare and Present a Defense.

The next factor is the burden on the University. The University was
significantly prejudiced by the Court’s refusal to stay the case for the same reasons
that, as described above, there was significant overlap between this case and the
pending criminal cases against Curley and Schultz. The University was denied

access to two key witnesses whose insight could have helped develop defenses and
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whose support and corroboration might have aided the presentation of the
University’s defenses. Because the facts and claims are intrinsically intertwined
with the factual allegations in the underlying criminal charges against Schultz and
Curley, the University was severely constrained during discovery and at trial.

McQueary’s defamation and intentional misrepresentation claims each raise
factual questions that ultimately relate to the February 2001 incident and the
actions and communications of McQueary, Curley, and Schultz in response to it.
The University could not fully explore such questions without access to Curley and
Schultz and was significantly prejudiced in its ability to defend against those
claims at trial.

The University was particularly prejudiced in its ability to defend against

intentional misrepresentation claim involves the state of mind of Schultz and

Curley, as well as remaining substantial questions of fact as to the substance of

misconduct. Without the testimony from Schultz and Curley, the University was

unable to adequately develop its defenses, including testing the veracity of what

6
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o) McQueary’s whistleblower claim also illustr As protected
reporting activity supporting his whistleblower claim, Plaintiff relies on his grand
jury testimony and his testimony at the December 2011 criminal preliminary

-57-



TeW T

ORIGINAL
Similarly, the defamation claim concerned whether Spanier reasonably trusted the
actions taken by Curley and Schultz.

This factor clearly weighed in favor of the stay. In hindsight, the prejudice
suffered by the University by refusing to issue the stay was compounded by the
Court’s erroneous decisions (1) to instruct the jury that it may make an adverse
inference from Curley’s and Schultz’s decisions to invoke their Fifth Amendment
constitutional protections; and (2) to instruct the jury that Curley, Schultz, and
Spanier were mandated reporters. As discussed below, the adverse inference was
improper, and the record did not show that Curley and Schultz
reporters under the law in place in 2001. This confluence of decisions by the Court
created an atmosphere where the jury was compelled to find the University liable
not due to the evidence

This situation would have been avoided if the University’s Motion for a stay had

been granted.

{7)' A Frny 140N d

The fifth factor concerns the interests of the trial court. The Court found that

this factor weighed against a stay because “my interest is and has been to promptly

hearing against Curley and Schultz. Without the ability to question Curley and
Schultz about what, specifically, McQueary communicated to them in February
2001 and how, specifically, they responded to McQueary at that time, the
University cannot fully explore the factual issues of McQueary’s multiple claims.
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resolve this case.” See Order and Opinion (8/15/2016) (Ex. R) at p. 8. As other
judges have recognized, prompt resolution of McQueary’s claims is only one
consideration when evaluating the interests of the Court. If it were the only factor,
the Court’s interests would be no different than McQueary’s.

In evaluating its interests, the court must consider efficiency as well as

l\"r‘r

expediency. E.g., Adelphia Communications, 2003 22358819, at *5. A stay

would have promoted judicial economy both at the time of the first stay request
(early in the litigation) and at the time of the second stay request (late in the
litigation). Resolution of the criminal cases would have increased prospects for

settlement of the civil case and removed the need for discovery and a trial. See

Parallel Proceedings (Ex. S) at 204; Doe v. Pa. State Univ., No. 4:12-CV-2068,

2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21604, at *
prevented the need to engage in piecemeal litigation and trial practice, which is

generally disfavored by courts as inefficient and costly to all involved. See, e.g.,

Sept. 15, 2011); Carpenter Technology Corp. v. Armco, Inc., Civ. A. No. 90-0740,

1990 WL 61180, at *4 (E.D. Pa. May 8, 1990).

judicial efficiency, saved the parties unnecessary expense, and avoided further
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piecemeal litigation. At the time each motion to stay was filed, this factor weighed
in favor of a stay.
(8). A Stay would have Advanced the Interests of the Public.
The sixth factor is the interest of the public. The court found this factor

neutral because “[i]nterest in the Sandusky and related cases remain high and the

(8/15/2016) (Ex. R) at p. 8; see also Order and Opinion (11/30/2016) (Ex. C) at p.

12. However, while the public may have an interest in seeing that civil matters

interest in enforcement of the criminal law.” Kaiser, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1377,

*12; Golden Quality Ice Cream, 87 F.R.D. at 58 (public interest in quick and

diligent resolution of antitrust violations through private litigation only weakened

when federal government receives indictment and chooses to prosecute criminal

antitrust case); In re Plastics Additives Antitrust Litig., No. 03-2038, 2004 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 23989, at *27-28 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 29, 2004). The public’s interest in
the fair administration of criminal proceedings may be enough to stay an entire
civil proceeding, or at least limit the scope of civil discovery. See Kaiser, 1997

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1377, *15 (citing Campbell v. Eastland, 307 F.2d 478, 487 (5th

Cir. 1962)).
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As recognized by the Court, the civil and criminal cases were well followed
by the public. Order and Opinion (8/15/2016) (Ex. R) at p. 8. Allowing the civil
trial to proceed risked poisoning the criminal jury pool by allowing McQueary to
present his evidence in a well-followed proceeding where it was against the
interests of Schultz and Curley to testify and provide their version of events. In
addition, certain rulings that were made during trial also could infringe on the
integrity of the criminal trial by influencing the jury pool. For example, the Court
found as a matter of law that Curley and Schultz were mandated reporters when
that is an issue directly at play in the criminal prosecutions. 1
stayed, it would have been unnecessary for this Court to rule on those issues while
the criminal trial was pending.
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allowed the criminal proceeding to occur first; thereby, permitting the criminal trial
to occur without any influence from the rulings, testimony, and verdict from the
managed more easily and the University would have had full access to its

witnesses. This factor weighed heavily in favor of a stay.

Vo)
N’

Stay would have Advanced the Interest of Non-Parties.
The final factor is the interests of non-parties. In denying the first stay

request, the Court considered the effect of a stay on Curley and Schultz. Order and
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Opinion (12/20/2012) (Ex. Q) at p. 11-12. The Court found that as to the
whistleblower and defamation claims, their interests were irrelevant. Id. at 11.
The Court did not address the misrepresentation claim; the claim the Court later
conceded included overlap between the civil and criminal proceedings. Id. at pp.
11-12; Order and Opinion (8/15/2016) (Ex. R) at p. 5. In denying the second stay
request, the Court found that no non-party had an interest in this action. Order and
Opinion (8/15/2016) (Ex. R) at p. 8. That is not the case.

Curley, Schultz, and Spanier were all non-parties to the litigation with great
interest in this case.
evidence about events related to their criminal indictments and render judgment on

them before their criminal proceedings. For Curley and Schultz, this prejudice was

“The dilemma [of whether to testify in a civil actions] for [non-parties] . . . is

severe because they face serious penalties in the event of a criminal conviction,

nd K
U

ana uset

e :
ecause es to thle] civil action.” Quality Ice
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Cream, 87 F.R.D. at 58. They also had an interest in not having a court make a

finding that they were mandated reporters, an issue at the time of the civil
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proceedings which was still the basis of criminal counts against Spanier, Curley
and Schultz.’

Balancing the factors discussed above, it is clear that they all favor granting
a stay. As such, the Court erred by not granting the stay. This alone calls for the
granting of a new trial and an order staying the new trial until the conclusion of the
criminal proceedings.

(10). To Ensure a Fair Trial, a Stay was Required in this Matter

As described above, the legal standard for granting a stay was satisfied.

prejudice, justifying a new trial.

The University’s inability to contact Curley and Schultz was not a sanction
for any misconduct by the University. It was the result of Curley’s and Schultz’s
independent decisions to invoke their constitutional rights. Nonetheless, by

forcing the University to move forward without access to key witnesses, the

University suffered greater prejudice than most sanctioned litigants. See Jacobs v.

Chatwani, 922 A.2d 950, 962 (Pa. Super. 2007) (quoting Smith v. Grab, 705 A.2d

894, 902 (Pa. Super. 1997)) (holding that even when a party has acted improperly,

" The Court has dismissed the failure to report charges based on the lapsed
statute of limitations. See February 1, 2017 Order (Ex. V). However, imagine if
the criminal court and its higher burden found that University officials were not
mandated reporters after this court had. A stay was necessary to avoid such unjust
results.
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the decision “to preclude the testimony of a witness is a drastic sanction, and it
should be done only where the facts of the case make it necessary.”) This alone
requires a new trial. But the prejudice was compounded by the Court’s decision to
(1) instruct the jury that it could take an adverse inference from the failure of the

University to present Curley and Schultz, even though the University was

n 1. PRI DAY By
onte instruct the

Schultz to testify, and

powerless to compel Curley and (2) sua sp
jury that the jury must consider Curley and Schultz mandated reporters, even

though the failure of Curley and Schultz to testify made it impossible for the Court

(@]
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=
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P—
for a mandated reporter. Each error alone requires a new trial to cure. The

combined effect of each error certainly warrants a new trial.

B. THE COURT IRREPARABLY PREJUDICED THE

UNIVERSITY BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT IT
COULD MAKE AN ADVERSE INFERENCE AGAINST THE

TINTVERQITV nlrr‘ ATICR QPI."TI TZ AND {“ITDI EY

EXERCISED THEIR RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH
AMENDMENT

The Supreme Court of the United States has ruled that the “Fifth
Amendment does not forbid an adverse inference against parties to civil actions
when they refuse to testify in response to probative evidence offered against them:
the Amendment ‘does not preclude the inference where the privilege is claimed by

a party to a civil cause.”” Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308, 318 (U.S. 1976)

(quoting 8 J. Wigmore, Evidence 439 (McNaughton rev. 1961)) (italics in original,
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bolding added). The University is unaware of any case law from the Supreme
Court of the United States or the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania which
specifically considered whether a trial court may provide an adverse inference
instruction against a party when, like here, a non-party asserts his protections under
the Fifth Amendment.

However, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has considered the issue more
generally. Over sixty years ago, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania explained that
“where a witness is equally available to both parties, no unfavorable inference can

be asserted by either against the other for failure to call him. . ..” Haas v. Kasnot,

105 A.2d 74, 76 (Pa. 1954) (citing Mosely v. Reading Co., 145 A. 293, 295 (Pa.

1954) (same for documentary evidence)). In Pratt v. Stein, 444 A.2d 674 (Pa.

Super. 1982), a physician accused of 1
failing to instruct the jury that the physician’s failure to testify should not serve as
proof of his negligence. See id. at 795. The physician argued that an “[adverse]

inference does not arise w
to either party. This is an accurate statement of the law.” Id. at 705, n.51. The

court agreed with his recitation of the law, but stated that it did not apply because

position that an adverse inference is inappropriate when a non-party is available to

either side. See Fitzpatrick v. Philadelphia Newspapers. Inc., 567 A.2d 684 (Pa.
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Super. 1989) (“The fact that Lame [a party-witness] was available to be called by

either side does not bar the application of . . . [an adverse inference], as it would if

A~ A 14 4'\ 1 I B N~ A

he were a non-party witness.”); Bulman v. Myers, 467 A.2d 1353, 1355-1356 (Pa.

Super. 1983) (holding that malpractice plaintiff was not entitled to an adverse
inference for the failure of the defendant-dentist to testify because she could have
called him as a witness or offered part of his deposition testimony at trial).

The situation considered in Haas, Pratt, and Fitzpatrick presented itself here.

Either McQueary or the University could have subpoenaed Curley and Schultz to

testify. Despite equal access to the witnesses and the well-developed

Commonwealth, the Court issued the following instruction to the jury:

Now, you will recall that a stipulation was read during
the trial with regard to Mr. Curley and Mr. Schultz, and
essentially the stipulation read that, if called as witnesses,
they would decline to answer certain questions on the
grounds that their answers might tend to incriminate
them. A person has a constitutional right to remain silent

and decline to answer on the grounds that an answer may
tend to incriminate him or them. You may, but need not,

AliiAds tha
conciude tnat the answer ‘VVO‘L}]A }"""p k""p" q’]"pfcp to

Penn State’s interests. So, in the civil law, there 1s a

provision that, if a person is within the control of a party,
that the exnectation is thev would call the nartyv and the

[SEICAVEES A Vl\t.l\/\/kutl\.l.ll 10 \,ll\/ TALVE Wwilsix wvix prRa vy WA AN

party would state whatever it is that the party is going to
state. Penn State contends in this case that Mr. Curley
and Mr. Schultz are really not within their (‘nntrrﬂ tth

vavava I IS LR S e b AL vaiidl LidWil RUUA2 [ 9.9 %

don’t work for them anymore, and that they don’t really
have the ability to call them. On the other hand, the
plaintiff asserts that, if| in fact, the position is that Mr.
McQueary did not tell them what he claims that he told
them and that conversely he told them that he only saw
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horseplay, they would have no Fifth Amendment
privilege because if they said we only told it was
horseplay, they can’t get in trouble for that, and the
plaintiff wants you to draw the adverse inference that the
reason they are not testifying is because, in fact, if they
did answer the question, it would be something other
than horseplay so that they assert that they’re entitled to
that adverse inference. You are not required to do that,
so you have to ask yourself which party has control over
them, and is the drawing of the adverse inference
permissible?

The plaintiff cannot meet his burden of proof based
solely on an adverse inference. There has to be other
evidence that the plaintiff presented, and you will have to
recall what the evidence was that was presented with
regard to the misrepresentation count.

N.T. (10/27/2016) at 126:25-128:19. The University properly objected and briefed

the issue. See N.T. (10/27/2016) at 126-128; Memorandum (8/26/2016) (Ex. W).

committed reversible error when it provided an adverse inference instruction.

The analysis used by other courts also leads to the conclusion that the

case-by-case basis a list of non-exhaustive factors to determine whether an adverse

inference instruction is appropriate. See Coquina Investments v. TD Bank, 760

F.3d 1300, 1309-1312 (11" Cir. 2014)

>

United States, 107 F.3d 110, 123-124 (2d Cir. 1997). Those factors are (1) the

nature of the relevant relationships; (2) the degree of control of the party over the

67-



ORIGINAL
non-party witness; (3) the compatibility of the interests of the party and non-party

witness in the outcome of the litigation; and (4) the role of the non-party witness in

1»-\'\ A

the litigation. Coquina, 760 F.3d at 1311 (quoting LiButti, 107 F.3d at 123-124).
“The overarching concern that should guide the admissibility inquiry is
fundamentally whether the adverse inference is trustworthy under all of the
circumstances and will advance the search for the truth.” Coquina, 760 F.3d at
1304. “Because the witness cannot be made to explain why the privilege has been
invoked, the reliability of the adverse inference drawn from his silence is limited.”

b 1N

d.at 1310

—

When considering the first element — the nature of the relevant relationship —
the court should examine the relationship “from the perspective of a non-party
witness' loyalty to the plai
F.3d at 123. Curley and Schultz were not employees of the University at the time
they invoked the rights under the Fifth Amendment. Their criminal prosecution
and the siti
the public. They are both trying to succeed in the criminal courts and the court of

public opinion. No reason has been provided to believe that the University shares

Curlev or Schultz to quhf an adverse inference

instruction. Similarly, the second factor — the amount of control by the University

over the witnesses — weighs against an adverse inference. The employment
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relationship had long been severed when their rights were invoked. The only
allegation of control is that the University continues to pay the legal fees of Curley
and Schultz.

The fact that the University has paid the legal fees for Curley and Schultz in
the criminal proceedings does not change this analysis; the individual counsel of
Curley and Schultz maintain a professional responsibility to act solely in their

clients’ best interest. See Bonfilio v. United States, No. 15-1015, 2016 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 145142, at *49 (W.D. Pa. Oct. 20, 2016) (stating “in the context of criminal

defense, certain litigation decisions are considered fundamental and are for the

—r

client to make . . . includ[ing] decisions on . . . whether to testify . ...”); Pa.R.P.C.
5.4(c) (mandating that “[a] lawyer shall not permit a person who . . . pays the
lawyer to render legal services for another to direct or regulate t

professional judgment in rendering such legal services.”). No evidence suggests

that the University controls their defense in anyway including the invocation of

cooperated at all in any matter relating to Sandusky’s conduct. They provided no
information during discovery in this case or during the Freeh Group investigation
commissioned by the University. See Report of the Special Investigative

Regarding the Actions of the Pennsylvania University Related to the Child Sexual

Abuse Committed by Gerald A. Sandusky, Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP (Ex. X)
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at p. 12. Rather, they declined to participate in the investigation on the advice of
their counsel. Id. This is a further sign that the University has no control over
them. See LiButti, 107 F.3d at 123 (finding party’s payment on non-party’s legal
fee were relevant when the non-party cooperated in the investigation).

The University continues to pay their legal fees. It does not do so to curry
favor with Curley and Schultz. It does not do so as quid pro quo for their silence.
It does not do so to induce Curley and Schultz to provide them with information on
how they would testify. Rather, it does so to honor its prior agreements with
Curley and Schuitz.

The third factor — the compatibility of interests — is absent. Curley and

Schultz are no longer employed by the University and are not parties in this case.

The fourth and final factor — the role of a non-party witness in the litigation
— does not support an adverse-inference instruction in this case. Curley and Schultz
each

inference drawn against the University more reliable. “The overarching concern

that should guide the admissibility inquiry is fundamentally whether the adverse

for the truth.” Coquina, 760 F.3d at 1304. “Because the witness cannot be made to
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explain why the privilege has been invoked, the reliability of the adverse inference
drawn from his silence is limited.” Id. at 1310.

Although Curley and Schultz play an important role in this litigation, that
important role does not make an adverse inference drawn against the University
any more reliable. It does, however, magnify the unfair prejudice to the University
of such an inference. This is particularly so in light of the University’s lack of
authority to compel them to provide information relevant to its defense.

Curley and Schultz were equally available to both parties. The invocation of
their Fifth Amendment right was not caused by
alone was harmed for the actions of others beyond its control. “While a party may

be able to deflect the damage of adverse inferences taken from his own invocation

defend against an adverse inference drawn against a witness which in turn harms

his own case.” Lionti v. Lloyd's Ins. Co., 709 F.2d 237, 246 (3d Cir. 1983) (Stern,

Court should grant a new trial.
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C. MCQUEARY IS A PUBLIC FIGURE OR LIMITED-PURPOSE
PUBLIC FIGURE AND THE COURT SHOULD HAVE
REQUIRED MCQUEARY TO PROVE THAT PRESIDENT
SPANIER ACTED WITH ACTUAL MALICE IN MAKING HIS
STATEMENTS

The standard of fault in the defamation claim depends on whether the

plaintiff is a public or private figure. Am. Future Sys., Inc. v. Better Bus. Bureau,

023 A.2d 389, 400 (Pa. 2007). Ifthe ublic figure or public official

and the statement relates to a matter of public concern, then the plaintiff must

prove the defendant acted with actual malice. Id. Actual malice is a reckless

y—t

alsity of the statement. Id. at 395 n.6; Norton v. Glenn,

860 A.2d 48, 50, n.3 (Pa. 2004).
The actual malice standard also applies to limited-purpose public figures. A
lIimited- -purpose pnblic 1gur e “thrusts himself into the vortex of the discussion of

pressing public concerns.” Rosenblatt v. Baer, 383 U.S. 75, 87 n. 12. (1966). He

becomes a limited-purpose public figure because he invites and merits “attention

and comment.” Gertz v. Welch, 418 U.S. 323, 342 (1974). A person may become

a limited-purpose public figure if he attempts to have, or realistically can be
expected to have, a major impact on the resolution of a specific public dispute that
has foreseeable and substantial ramifications for persons beyond its immediate

participants.” Wolston v. Reader's Digest Assoc., 443 U.S. 157, 167 (1979).
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McQueary pressed the public-figure standard in his Complaint: “Exhibit C
was published by President Spanier with actual malice and/or with reckless
disregard for the truth in an outrageous effort to provide full and public support of
the University. . . .” See Complaint (Ex. B) at § 53. At a conference on the first
day of trial, the Court expressed skepticism about whether McQueary was a public
figure, but permitted additional briefing. See N.T. (10/17/2016 (Chambers)) at
4:21-6:16. Consequently, the University supported its position with a bench brief
provided to the Court. See Bench Brief (Ex. Y). The University also proposed
that the Court provide the jury with defamation instructions consistent with
McQueary’s Complaint and the alleged defamation of a public figure or limited-
purpose public figure. See Proposed Points of Charge (Ex. J) at Nos. 33, 35, 36 &

™. ~1 £ 44 < £ -

During the charging conference, th un

38. D he Court found
public figure or limited-purpose public figure at the time of the allegedly

defamatory statement. N.T. (10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 24:10-25:20. Over the

attendant to a public figure or limited public figure. This was an error and

prejudiced the University.

rmine whether a plaintiff is a limited-purpose public
figure are: (1) whether the allegedly defamatory statement involved a public

controversy; and (2) the nature and extent of the plaintiff’s involvement in that
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controversy. Marcone v. Penthouse International Magazine for Men, 754 F.2d

1072, 1077 (3d Cir. 1985) (applying Pennsylvania Law). First and without
question, the Sandusky investigation and subsequent proceedings were a matter of
public controversy. Second, McQueary had “a major impact on the resolution of a

specific public dispute” prior to the defamatory statement when he involved

rT

himself in the Sandusky investigation. Wolston, 443 U.S. at 167. On this basis,
McQueary qualified at the very least as a limited-purpose public figure.

Courts have found athletic coaches to be limited-purpose public figures. In

, th ox e \ ~
P 199 (C.P. Lawrence 1993), the

Sarandrea v. Sharon Herald Co., 30 Pa.D.&C .4

Court considered whether an article in a local newspaper and a promotional poster
for that article were defamatory. The crux of the allegations was that two

statements were defamatory:
Association (NCAA) inquiry into the recruiting conduct of a former college coach,

now a high school coach, was certain, months before the NCAA issued any report

recruiting/school transfer efforts in high school, made at a time when the object of

the recruiting drive was not clearly going to transfer. Id. at **10-12. The Court

iiixaa

ot immune to the glare of adverse publicity
... such coaches, and their policies are of as much concern to the community as

other public officials and public figures.” See id. at *17 (internal citation and
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quotations omitted). Accordingly, the high school football coach was found to be
“a limited public figure and that the actual malice standard is applicable to this

— . - . e~ L] — 1 1 ~m~A1 NT A 1N

case.” Id. Similarly, in Basarich v. Rodeghero, 321 N.E.2d 739 (Ill. App. 1974),

coaches, teachers, and the teachers’ association alleged defamation against

publishers of a local newsletter. Id. at 741. The Court found that “coaches and

teachers” were “subject to intense public interest and substantial publicity.” Id. at

]

742. Accordingly, the Court found them to be public figures.

McQueary was more of a public figure than local, high school coaches. He
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followed colleges in America. N.T. (10/21/2016 (A.M.)) at 38:20-38:24. He also
served as a graduate assistant coach for Joe Paterno, an iconic coach. See

@ .
Complaint (Ex. B

—m

At A TEC mrrrbe nhora
at § 4. 11 Courts cnaractc

R

public figures, certainly McQueary was such a figure as well.

No testimony was provided that Spanier spoke with a reckless disregard of

doubts about the truth of his publication. . ..” Masson v. New Yorker Magazine,

501 U.S. 496, 510 (1991). McQueary did not prove that President Spanier falsely

gested that McQue lied about what he

vuvvu vailay AVase LESL A |

e saw. The
lowered McQueary’s burden of proof and therefore, the University seeks a new

trial.
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D. PRESIDENT SPANIER’S STATEMENT WAS A MATTER OF
PUBLIC CONCERN; THEREFORE, MCQUEARY MUST
SHOW THAT SPANIER ACTED WITH ACTUAL MALICE IN
MAKING HIS STATEMENTS

Even if McQueary is considered a private figure, the “actual malice”

See ToDay's Housing v. Times Shamrock Communications, Inc., 21 A.3d 1209

(Pa. Super. 2011); Rubin v. CBS Broad., Inc., No. 01515, 2016 Phila. Ct. Com. PI.

EXIS 30, at *8 (C.P. Phi

,a
defamation claim on a matter of public concern, he or she must also prove the

element of falsity in addition to the statutory requirements for defamation found in

42 Pa C S A 8§ R343(2a)
TL L Ao ¥y O CACT

U

o

d. See also Krajewski v. Gusoff, 53 A.3d 793, 803 (Pa.

.1 } 9

Super. 2012) (citing Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 17 (1990)).

The subject of the statement was clearly a matter of public concern.

ier’s statement concerned his confidence in the actions taken by
Schultz and Curley with respect to Sandusky’s misconduct. The safety of children
and the Sandusky investigation are self-evidently matters of public concern. See
Rubin, 2016 Phila. Ct. Com. P1. LEXIS 30, at *12 (holding sexual misconduct with
a student is a matter of public concern). It is also a matter of public concern

whether the Commonwealth’s largest University and its high-level employees

properly dealt with such charges. See id.; N.T. (10/27/2016) at 10:5-12:15.
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The University proposed that the Court provide the jury with instructions
regarding matters of public concern and the need to show material falsity. See
Proposed Points of Charge (Ex. J) at Nos. 33, 35, 36 & 38. The Court declined to
provide the jury with those instructions. The University was prejudiced by the
Court’s ruling that the defamatory statement was not a matter of public concern.
McQueary could not have met that burden. See N.T. (10/27/2016) at 9:16-12:18,;
15:11-25. Consequently, the University seeks a new trial.

E. THE COURT PREJUDICED THE UNIVERSITY BY
REFUSING TO PERMIT THE UNIVERSITY TO PUBLISH TO

L SE R S ¥4 O MIT AM M ACT MY ATARITTILT TRT A

THE JURY NEWS ARTICLES THAT CAST PLAINTIFF IN A
NEGATIVE LIGHT IN ORDER TO REFUTE THE CLAIM
THAT THE UNIVERSITY’S ACTIONS HARMED

MY A MY M

PLAINTIFF’S REPUTATION.

The Court committed an error of law, resulting in prejudice to the
University, when it precluded the University from offering the contents of news
articles which cast McQueary’s reputation in an extremely negative light (“News
Articles”). The University sought to enter these News Articles to defend itself
against McQueary’s claim that the University’s actions or the Spanier Statement,
were the cause of McQueary’s injured reputation.

On the second day of trial, Mr. Mahon, the University’s Vice President for
University Relations during the time in question, testified on direct examination

that his Office was responsible for monitoring the news media for articles that were

being published about the University. N.T. (11/26/16 (P.M.)) at 4-5. During the
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week that the story of the Sandusky matter broke, the level of press coverage “built
during the course of the week as many more reporters showed up in town in person
to cover different story angles.” Id.

So that this point is clear, up front: the public-at-large was exposed to, and
any potential employer of McQueary who did a simple Google-search would find,
excoriating content in News Articies published about McQueary® during the time
period in question, and before the University made the decisions to not allow
McQueary to coach and to place him on leave. The contents of two of the News
Articles which were sought to be introduced into evidence and published to the
jury during Mr. Mahon’s Day 2 testimony are set forth below. See also List of

Articles (Ex. Z) (listing other articles with similar content).

DATE SOURCE CONTENT TRIAL
| ) EX. #
L1/9/11 | The ]’Yew York | Title: “An Aspiring Coach in the Middle of a 70
e Scandal”

Content: “According to the [Grand Jury] report,
McQueary heard ‘rhythmic, slapping sounds,”
which he believed to be those of sexual activity.
He walked into his locker, opened it and put his

These are by no means the only articles critical of Plamntiff published
during this timeframe. They are merely examples of the sentiment that existed in
the public mind at that time. Mr. Mahon testified that the new coverage during the
week in question was “[pjrobably the most coverage I've ever seen for a story at
Penn State”. N.T. (10/26/2016 (A.M.)), 5. He estimated that his department saw
“hundreds of stories . . . each day.” Id.
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sneakers inside. He then turned his head and
looked into the shower. He said under oath that
he saw Sandusky raping what appeared to be a
10-year-old boy. He immediately left . . . But
there is no evidence that he did anything else to
see Sandusky more meaningfully investigated or
punished. What he did do was continue to climb
up the ranks of Paterno’s coaching staff. . . .”

11/10/11 The Title: “Penn Statc and Joe Paterno: A scandal
Washington . . 5
Post that could so easily have been avoided

R
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12002, v t
MoQuea allegedly walked in on that horrible

scene in the showers, on campus, right there it

14 1
could have been stopped. That child, and every

child that came after, could have been saved. ...
All that it would have taken is a call to 9-1-1.

'T‘]«‘w:-p ]1H]p Au'nfc Thrnp l1fﬂp nun'\]'\ere a‘nr] fhaf

boy’s life mlght have been changed. Other boys’

lives might have been changed. Sandusky’s life
certainly would have chaneed. And Penn State

AYA 2 S Lullll] LANA Y \/Jlullbv\l ALANG A WRAAX LA
wouldn’t be leaderless this morning. Instead,
McQueary left and called . . . his dad. McQueary

was not a (‘hlld or an ]R-\mﬂr-n]d freshman. He
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was a 28-year- old, presumably of good health
and strong build. Yet he walked away? When I
was 28, I probably still called my dad 1f 1 had a
perplexmg question about my tax return, but if |
saw a naked man raping a young boy in the
showers, I would have dialed 9-1-1, pulled the
man off the boy, incapacitated the man with a
well-placed and much-enjoyed knee to the groin,
and gotten the boy out of there. [sn’t that
what anyone in his right mind would do if he saw
someone being raped? 1 certainly hope our world
hasn’t fallen so far into the Slough of Despond
that seeing forcible sex acts performed on a child

isn’t something we shrug off. This is the sort of
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thing for which 9-1-1 was invented. But for
some reason, McQueary didn’t do those things,
nor did his father call 9-1-1. Opportunity No. 2,
wasted. ... McQueary was later told, according
to the report, that Sandusky’s locker room keys
had been taken and the incident had been
reported to Second Mile. This was opportunity
No. 4, in my opinion, because this was
McQueary’s chance to make the call. It was
clear no one had contacted anyone with actual
authority. Might McQueary have lost his job?
Yes. Is letting a child be raped and doing
nothing worth a line on your resume? 1 would
say no. Wouldn’t you?”

In connection with the University’s attempt to examine Mr. Mahon on the

second day of trial about the News Articles, and to publish the contents of the

hearsay — despite the fact that the contents of the News Articles were not being

offered for the truth of the matters asserted therein; but, instead, only to prove that

The Court held that it would not let the University publish the contents of
the News Articles to the jury because: (a) “the content of” the News Articles that
Mr. Mahon was “monitoring” -- “like the proceeding one, The Washington Post
article, [is] offer[ing] the opinion of someone who’s not here subject to cross-

examination[.] I'll let you identify [the News Articles] but not publish [them] to
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the jury.” N.T. (10/18/16 (A.M.)) at 53:16-54:8; (b) the argument that the contents

of the News Articles were not being offered for their truth was “splitting a very

A

fine hair, especially in a case like this”, Id. at 54

Loz 1

:25-55:1; (¢) in a jury trial, the
finder “cannot parse quite as easily the distinction between a statement not offered
for the truth of the matter asserted and when offered for the truth of the matter

'IQSY Foll @ IV 4

asserted.” Id. at 57:24-58:5; (d) the Court was “not going to build in any

you later on”. Id. at 58:13-14; and (e) it was McQueary’s side of the case, and the

University was not permitted to enter evidence into the record therein’.

Mahon to the stand. After the University’s counsel showed one of the News

Articles to Mr. Mahon, the Court again refused to allow the University to publish

the record already”; (b) “[t]his is the opinion of someone that’s writing a magazine

article and your saying what he said”; (c) “if this jury hasn’t figured out that the

In response, the University reminded the Court that the parties had, for the
sake of efficiency, agreed that the University could put on its case with Mr.
Mahon, on Plaintiff’s side of the case, rather than re-calling him back on the

University’s side. The Court then stated that the University did not tell it of that

agreement. The University then remind the Court that that agreement had been

reached in the Court’s chambers, with the Court present. The Court indicated it

had “no recall of that”. Counsel for Plaintiff then confirmed that that agreement

had been shared with the Court. The Court responded that Plaintiff’s counsel’s
“memory is better than mine [on] that point, there’s no problem. So you can

continue to proceed as you have been.” N.T. (10/18/2016 (A.M.)) at 59:5-60:6.
-81-



“we went back and forth so many times [on the issue of the admissibility of the
contents of News Articles] that I feel like a fish flopping one way or that other.”
N.T. (10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 9:15-10:5.

Despite the University’s protest that McQueary was “claiming that his
reputation has been injured. This article goes directly to the reputational claim that
he is making. And, I say for a third time, [McQueary’s counsel] was permitted” to
do exactly what the University sought to do'®, the Court only allowed the
University to ask Mr. Mahon “was the media coverage direct to the sexual incident
[involving Sandusky] and Mr. McQueary’s response to that incident”, not to
publish the contents of any News Articles — and concluded “[t]hat’s the solution
that I’'m giving you. If I’'m wrong, you have the point for appeal.” N.T.

(10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 10:6-11:9.
The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has determined, in the landmark case of

Corabi v. Curtis Publishing Co., supra, that, when determining what injury has

the character and previous general standing of the plaintiff in the community.

Corabi, 273 A.2d at 920 (citing Restatement, Torts, Section 621, comment (c)

' When Plaintiff wanted to examine his witnesses about the contents of
news articles, the Court determined that the contents of news articles was not

TN INT /1 £

hearsay — and could be published to the Jury. See N.T. (10/21/16 (A.M.)), at 74,
75.
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(1938)), overruled on other grounds by Dunlap v. Philadelphia Newspapers, Inc.,

448 A.2d 6 (Pa. Super. 1982). If the reputation of a defamation-plaintiff is
“already bad, evidence of this fact is admissible and should be considered in
mitigation of damages.” Id.""

Further, a defamation defendant is permitted to rebut a plaintiff’s damages
calculation by showing that independent factors harmed plaintiff’s economic and
reputational standing. Marcone, 754 F.2d at 1079 (holding that newspaper stortes
concerning plaintiff, other than the publications at issue, were admissible “to

nml\hr\r‘l

The United States Third Circuit Court of Appeals in Wallace v. Media News

Group, Inc., 568 Fed. Appx. 121 (3d Cir. 2014), has recently reiterated that the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court tr

reputation as going to damages” because “evidence of a tarnished reputation is

admissible and should be considered as a factor to mitigate the level of

"' In the most extreme cases, the “libel-proof plaintiff doctrine” has been

extended by Courts in the Commonwealth so far as to preclude even “nominal
damages” to a poorly reputed defamation plaintiff — and, even, to necessitate the
dismissal of such a “claim with prejudice to avoid the unnecessary costs of

defending the claim”. Griffin v. Griffin, 2008 Phila. Ct. Com. PI. LEXIS 300
(2008).
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As applied to this case, in order to prove that he was defamed, McQueary
was required to not only prove that he had been spoken of falsely, but also that his
reputation in the community was lowered as a resuit. Even 1f McQueary could
prove that he was spoken of falsely by the University, if he could not prove that
those falsehoods were what caused his reputational injury, he was not defamed. As
such, a central question attendant to McQueary’s defamation action against the
University was whether the Spanier Statement was the cause of McQueary’s
alleged reputational injury.

At its root, McQueary’s defamation action contends that McQueary held a
good reputation in the community for possessing positive character traits (e.g.,
honesty, integrity, trustworthiness, bravery, compassion, selflessness, empathy,

moral rectitude, etc

A ) A e m A
.jan r not
misplaced loyalty, selfishness, cowardice, efc.). In his defamation action,

McQueary further contends that, after the Spanier Statement was made, and

previously held him in high regard, that high regard evaporated and was replaced

by a newly acquired poor reputation in the community -- which now saw him as

McQueary bore the burden of proving that it was the Spanier Statement that

caused this sea-change in public sentiment about McQueary’s reputation to occur.
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If McQueary failed to prove any one of the following, then he could not meet his
burden of proving that he was defamed: (a) that he had a good reputation for

Qa2 - PR -

possessing positive character traits before the Spanier Statement was made; (b) that
he had a poor reputation for possessing negative character traits after the Spanier
Statement was made; and (c) that the Spanier Statement caused that shift.

Because of these requirements for proving his

necessarily exists a temporal aspect to McQueary’s burden of proof — it not only

mattered what McQueary’s reputation in the community was, but, also: (a) what

)
)
)
D
j
)
:
§
-

Spanier Statement; and (b) what effect the public’s prior possession of that other

knowledge had on McQueary’s reputation.

his defamation action, in part, by proving to the jury that McQueary’s reputation in

the community for possessing positive character traits was destroyed by his own

decision and coverag hat decision

had no control — not by the Spanier Statement. The University intended, and was
entitled, to attempt to prove to the jury — though its witness Mr. Mahon, who was
the very University official in charge of monitoring the public sentiment about the

Sandusky affair — that McQueary’s reputation was entirely damaged, or else was
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damaged in large part, by sentiments in the public mind about his character that
had nothing to do with the Spanier Statement.

“Hearsay” is a statement that the declarant does not make while testifying at
the current trial and that a party offers in evidence to prove the truth of the matter
asserted in the statement. Pa.R.E. 801(c). A “statement” means a person’s oral
assertion, written assertion, or nonverbal conduct, if the person intended it as an
assertion. Pa.R.E. 801(a). A “declarant” is a person who makes a statement.
Pa.R.E. 801(b). Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by the Rules of

Evidence, by other rules prescribed by the Pennsylvania Suprem

1ie Court, or by

statute. Pa.R.E. 802.

The News Articles are statements made by various declarants. As such, the

University at trial to prove the truth of the matters asserted in the News Articles.

See Pa.R.E. 801(c). But, if the News Articles were offered into evidence for a

then the News Articles are not hearsay. 1d.

In Raintree Homes. Inc. v. Birkbeck, 2011 Pa.Dist. & Cnty.Dec. LEXIS 164

(2011), affirmed at 2013 Pa.Si

iii

uper. Unpub. LEXIS 1777 (2013), the Court
affirmed, in an opinion denying plaintiff’s post-trial motion, its decision to permit

the defendants to show to the jury a news report about Raintree Homes’ poor

-86-



nrT T

ORIGINAL
reputation prior to the statements in question in that case being made about
Raintree Homes by Birkbeck (a newspaper reporter for the Pocono Record).

Defendants in Raintree Homes argued that the prior news report in question in that

case -- a CBS News report which criticized plaintiff’s business practices — was

offered “not for the truth of the statements therein — namely, allegations of

McQueary’s misconduct” but that “the Report was simply offered to establish that
the Report was broadcast.”

The Raintree Homes Court concluded that “Defendants sought to introduce

a1
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presumably weaken Plaintiffs’ claims of economic and reputational damage. And
we reiterate that the video was properly shown to the jury because its probative

ralisa Aot
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Defendants. See Duffy v. Dept. of Transp., 694 A.2d 6, 9 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1997) (‘if

the out-of-court statement is offered not to prove the truth of the statement made

made, the out-of-court statement is not hearsay regardless of who made it or how it

was reported to the witness’).” Raintree Homes, at **32-33.

Articles into evidence through their witness Mr. Mahon (who was the University

official most involved with monitoring such articles) on the trial’s second day in
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order to prove that the statements about McQueary’s character made in those
articles were true. Whether the statements made about McQueary’s character in
the News Articies were true or not is, in fact, irrelevant. The reievance of the
News Articles was to prove what the public was previously told by sources
independent from the University about McQueary (i.e., that McQueary was

to handle witnessing Sandusky in the shower with a child revealed his poor

character).

permitted the University to examine its own witness — the person who was most

knowledgeable about the News Articles (i.e., Mr. Mahon) -- about those News

News Articles during its examination of Mr. Mahon. The Court’s refusal to allow

the University to do so, because of its claim that the News Articles were hearsay,

may be examined by the University about the News Articles, and their contents.
Even if the News Articles could somehow be considered hearsay —i.e.,
because it were to be determined that the University sough

Articles into evidence through Mr. Mahon to prove the truth of the matters asserted

in those articles — the Court nonetheless committed a material error of law by
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refusing to allow the News Articles to be published to the jury during the
testimony of Mr. Mahon, because, alternatively, the University sought to enter the
News Articles into evidence, and publish them, through Mr. Mahon for purposes
that are exceptions to hearsay under Pa.R.E. 803.

Under Rule 803(21), the following is not excluded by the rule against
hearsay, regardless of whether the declarant is available as a witness: statements
dealing with “[a] reputation among a person’s associates or in the community
concerning the person’s character”. Under Pa.R.E. 405, character may be proven
by either reputational evidence (Rule 405(a)) or by specific instances o
in a civil case, a person’s character or a character trait is an essential element of a

claim (Rule 405(b)).

plaintiff’s reputation for having a good character was injured), McQueary’s

character was an essential element of his claim. See e.g. Corabi, supra., at 920

statements critical of McQueary which revealed specific instances of McQueary’s

conduct (e.g., McQueary’s conduct on the night that he found Sandusky and the

McQueary claims he was defamed in the mind of by the Spanier Statement.
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As the Raintree Homes Court noted, “alternatively, Defendants cite to

Pa.R.E. 803(21), which provides that out of court statements showing ‘reputation
of a person’s character among associates or in the community’ are excepted from

the ban on hearsay testimony”. The Raintree Homes Court reasoned:

We also concluded that the CBS Report is admissible as
a hearsay exception pursuant to Rule 803(21) and
Pennsylvania case law, because the statements in the
video pertain to Plaintiffs’ claimed damages as a result of
Defendants’ publications. Defendants were permitted to
rebut Plaintiffs’ damages caiculation by showing that
independent factors harmed Plaintiffs’ economic and
reputational standing. . . . We also affirm our decision
to permit Defendants to show the CBS Report to the
jury on this basis.

Id. (emphasis added).

The News Articles constituted statements under Pa.R.E. 803(21), made
about Plaintiff’s “reputation among a [his] associates or in the community
concerning the person’s character”. Accordingly, the News Articles should have
been permitted by the Court to be admitted into evidence, and published to the
jury, during the testimony of the University’s witness, Mr. Mahon, because they
constituted excepted hearsay.

In conclusion, the News Articles constituted powerful corroborative
evidence in support of the University’s defense. The outcome of the trial very

likely would have been different if, early on in the trial, the jury would have been

permitted to see the contents of the News Articles that supported the University’s

-90-



ORIGINAL

position that McQueary’s reputation was damaged by his own actions and
inactions, the highly critical public statements made in the News Articles about
those actions and inactions, and the public’s reaction to those News Articles — not
by the Spanier Statement.

The public was repeated told by third parties who had no connection to the
University that McQueary’s actions and inactions in dealing with a vuinerabie
child meant McQueary was of bad character. This evidence is critical to show that
something other than the alleged actions of the University caused McQueary’s
public reputation to suffer.

The Court’s ruling was not only an error of law that warrants a new trial, but
also an abuse of discretion, and further evidence of the bias against the University

VS PRI P o DRI I

that the Court demonstrated throughout these proceedings.

2 Clear-cut evidence of the Court’s disparate treatment of the University
can be seen in how the Court dealt with news articles that Plaintiff wanted to show
the Jury several days after the Court had refused to allow the University to publish
the contents of the News Articles to the Jury during the testimony of Mr. Mahon.
See N.T. (10/21/16 (A.M.)), at 74. When Plaintiff wanted to examine his witnesses
about the contents of news articles, the Court reconsidered its earlier ruling, and
determined that the contents of news articles was not hearsay — and could be
published to the Jury. Id., at 75. Of course, by that time, Mr. Mahon was off the
stand, and the opportunity for the University to establish its defense by providing
the Jury with the contents of the News Articles early on in the Trial was gone and
could never be recovered.
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F. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THAT IT WOULD
TAKE AN ADVERSE INFERENCE AGAINST THE
UNIVERSITY WHEN THE UNIVERSITY’S AGENTS
ASSERTED THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE AT

TRIAL.
On the trial’s first day, McQueary’s counsel asked Lisa Powers, the Director

of News and Media Relations for the University, questions about “removing

nd the attorn

anier’s statement [from the University website] an
attendant there with legal counsel?” N.T. (10/17/2016 (P.M.)) at 121:13-15. This
question was directly related to McQueary’s defamation cause of action that was
tried to the jury. In resp to McQueary’s question to Ms. Powers, the University
asserted the attorney-client privilege. Id. at 122:13-15. The Court stated: “Then
are we going to be — are we going to be revisiting the same issue that there is an
adverse inference to be drawn by you invoking the right [of] counsel or is he
asking is was there a discussion to withdraw it?” Id. at 123:13-17. The University
again asserted the privilege. Id. at 124:15-16. The Court concluded: “Okay. So if

you [] assert the privilege then they get the adverse inference? . . . So the adverse

inference would be that they were given the chance to withdraw [the Spanier

Statement] and they didn’t.” Id. at 124:17-19, 125:12-14.

-92.



Later at trial, in the context of McQueary’s whistleblower claim, the Court
examined Dr. Rodney Erickson,” who followed Spanier as President. The Court
asked Erickson the following: “Did you or anyone on behalf of the University
reach out to Mr. McQueary and say [McQueary did} the right thing?” Erickson
answered: “I didn’t reach out to him personally. No.” The Court then asked Mr.
because of the Whistle Blower [sic] Law?” N.T. (10/24/2016 (A.M.)) at 139:11-
18. The University’s counsel objected on the basis that the Court was asking the
witness to disclose privileged information. In response, the Court stated: “Okay.
So again, counsel, if you are directing him to take the attorney/client privilege then
the Court is going to draw the inference that his response would be negative to the
Id. at 139:22-140:1. Because of

being taken against it, and because the answer to the Court’s leading question was

not the answer that the Court clearly expected the witness to give, the University

' As an initial matter, “[w]hen the client is a corporation, the privilege

extends to communications between its attorney and agents or employees
authorized to act on the corporation's behalf." Pa. State Univ. v. Workers' Comp.
Appeal Bd. (Sox), 83 A.3d 1081 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2013) (citing In re Condemnation
by City of Philadelphia in 16.2626 Acre Area, 981 A.2d 391, 396 (Pa. Cmwlth.
2009)).
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so that the witness could answer that, no, the Whistleblower Law had nothing to do
with how Plaintiff was treated. Id. at 139:19-142:6.

b 4 Py

In Sprague v. Walter, 516 A.2d 706 (Pa.Super. 1986), the Superior Court

noted that, in the context of a defendant’s invocation of the Reporter Shield
statutory privilege, the trial court had, in effect, exacted “a penalty upon the

defendant for its exercise of a statutory right, and tr{ied] to accomplish by

indirection what it could not achieve directly. See Branzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S.

6635, 681, 92 S.Ct. 2646, 2656-57 (1972); Jamerson v. Anderson Newspaper, Inc.,

174 b

469 N.E.2d 1243, 1250 (Ind. App.1984).” Sprague, 516 A.2d at 714. The Sprague

Court went on to state:

We mention for edification purposes that it is not the
practice in this Commonwealth to resort to the use of an
adverse inference to neutralize one's invocation of any of
the other statutorily created privileges relating to non-

disclosure. See 42 Pa.C.S. § 5923 (Spouses)' 42 Pa.C.S.

§ 5928 (Attorney -- Client); 42 Pa.C.S. § 5929 (Doctor --

Patient); 42 Pa.C.S. § 5943 (Priest -- Penitent).
Id. at fn. 4 (emphasis added).

The stance taken by the Sprague Court squares exactly with the holdings of
United States Supreme Court and other Federal cases: a negative inference should

not be drawn based upon the assertion of the attorney-client privilege. Moseley v.

V Secret Catalogue, Inc., 537 U.S. 418 (2003), superseded by statute on other

grounds as recognized by Starbucks Corp. v. Wolfe’s Borough Coffee, Inc., 736
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F.3d 198, 206 (2d. Cir. 2013); United States v. St. John, 267 F. App'x 17, 22 (2d

Cir. 2008). See Knorr-Bremse Systeme Fuer Nutzfahrzeuge GmbH v. Dana Corp.,

o P —~ -~

383 F.3d 1337, 1344-1345 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (citing cases); In re Tudor Associates,

Ltd., II, 20 F. 3d 115, 120 (4th Cir. 1994) (“A negative inference should not be
drawn from the proper invocation of the attorney-client privilege.”).

Here, the Court committed an error of law when it determined that an
adverse inference would be taken whenever the University invoked the protection
of the attorney-client privilege. The Court’s decision is markedly at odds with the
law of the Commonwealth. Invocation of the attorney-client privilege is not a
“sanction-able” act; instead, it is an affirmative, statutorily created, right held by
litigants.

The Court, by its actions, seeks to make t
“privilege” at all. The rule applied by the Court in this case which holds that
“every communication between attorney and client must be presumed to be
adverse to

The “penalty” of an adverse inference exacted by the Court upon the
invocation of attorney-client privilege by University officials at trial materially
tainted the proceedings in such a way that

trial on all claims— wherein no such improperly applied “penalty” 1s levied — be

conducted.
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INTERROGATORIES TO THE JURY CONSTITUTES
REVERSIBLE ERROR.
In its pre-tnial opinion filed on August 15, 2016, denying the University’s

second Motion to stay the proceedings, the Court concluded that no stay was

needed because: “The use of juror questions on the verdict slip will enable the

unavailability on any verdict rendered on the misrepresentation count and take

appropriate action, if required.” See Order and Opinion (8/15/2016) at p. 5. At

interrogatories — dealing with Plaintiff’s defamation and misrepresentation claims -
- to be used in connection with the Verdict Slip.

Despite what it had concluded earlier about the need for special
interrogatories, at trial the Court changed its mind and advised the parties about
what the verdict sheet would contain: “I mean, you know, did the Spanier
statement defame Mr. McQueary? Yes or no. And depending on that, you get to
answer a damage question and then [{the] same thing with the misrepresentation. I
mean, I don’t see it as rocket science and I'm not going to be going down each
individual element, do you find this element, do you find that element, you know, I

don’t think we need to do that.” N.T. (10/26/2016 (P.M.)) at 62-63.
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Generally, a trial judge in Pennsylvania may grant or refuse a request for
special findings on the basis of whether such would add to the logical and

reasonable understanding of the issue. Century 21 Heritage Realty, Inc. v. Bair,

563 A.2d 114, 116 (Pa.Super. 1989); Fisch’s Parking v. Independence Hall

Parking, 638 A.2d 217 (Pa. Super. 1994), petition for allowance of appeal denied,

s A~

668 A.2d 1132 (Pa. 1995). When analyzing whether special interrogatories shoulid
be presented to the jury, appellate courts “view the charge to the jury in its

entirety”. Century 21, 563 A.2d at 116 (citing Reilly by Reilly v. SEPTA, 489

A.2d 1291 (Pa. 1985)).
A trial judge's decision to grant or refuse such a request constitutes
reversible error when the trial judge commits an abuse of discretion. Willinger v.

A . adle 12 Azl M anbnee 207 A N1 11900 110N A M, 10
WVICILY L alllOle 1vicditdl A CIILWCI, 070 A.LU 1100, 117V 1. 9\I'd. 17

Chroust, 478 A.2d 1376 (Pa. Super. 1984); Walsh v. Pennsylvania Gas & Water

Co., 449 A.2d 573 (Pa. Super. 1982).

where the jury “was presented with two theories upon which [plaintiff] could

recover and . . . one of the theories was premised upon trial court error.” Century

2

1,563 A.2d at 118 (without s
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determine whether the jury’s decision was based upon the valid theory . . . or the

erroneous theory”). Further, a refusal to provide special instructions to the jury is
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reversible error where the judge’s instructions to the jury did not present the jury

with all of the considerations to determine the case. See e.g., Fisch’s Parking, 638

A.2d at 223. Requests for submission of special interrogatories to a jury are

improperly denied by a trial court if the issues to be decided by the jury are

“complex and/or lengthy.” See Harsh v. Petroll, 840 A.2d 404, 440 (Pa. Cmwlth.

~

2003) (citing Moran v. G. & W.H. Corson, Inc., 586 A.2d 416 (Pa. Super. 1991)),

petition for allowance of appeal denied, 602 A.2d 860 (Pa. 1992).

Presenting the requested special interrogatories to the jury in this case --
which was complex and long -- would certainly have served to eliminate confusion
in the minds of jurors. The torts of defamation and intentional misrepresentation
are not garden variety. They are intricate, multi-factorial, fact-sensitive, torts that

esoteric concepts such as

involve allegations of non-physical injury to
“reputation,” involve the application of unique affirmative defenses, complex

questions of causation, damages that are not visible, or easily quantifiable — on top
punitive damages.

As set forth in the special interrogatories that the University sought to
present to the jury with the Verdict Shi

case, required the jury to make independent determinations about the following:

(a) whether the Spanier Statement was one of “opinion”;

98-



(c)
(d)

(e)

7N
e
N’

(h)

whether the Spanier Statement involved a “matter of public
concern’;

whether the Spanier Statement applied to McQueary;

whether any recipient of the Spanier Statement interpreted it to
apply to McQueary, and interpreted it to be defamatory of
McQueary;

whether the Spanier Statement was “false”, or whether “truth” was
a defense;

whether the Spanier Statement had a defamatory meaning — in
other words, was a reasonable interpretation of the statement that
it meant that McQueary lied to law enforcement or the grand jury;
whether (1} on the one hand, the Spanier Statement “tended to
harm the reputation” of McQueary by “lowering him in the
estimation of the community” or “deterring third parties from
associating or dealing with him
other than the Spanier Statement “tended to harm the reputation”

of McQueary by “lowering him in the estimation of the

with him”;

whether the Spanier Statement was “published” by the University;
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(1) whether the Spanier Statement was published with “actual
malice”;

() whether the Spanier Statement caused McQueary to suffer harm to
his “reputation” or “ability to earn a living”;

(k) the quantification of those compensatory damages, if any, that
McQueary proved an entitiement to; and

Q) the quantification of those punitive damages, if any, that
McQueary proved an entitlement to.

Interwoven with all of the concepts relevant to the tort of defamation were

those relevant to the separate tort of intentional misrepresentation. As further set
forth in the special interrogatories that the University sought to present to the jury

writh thoa Uasrds
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statements that McQueary claimed Tim Curley and Gary Schultz made in

February, 2001, were in fact made, whether they were “material,” whether they

ard to whether they were true or false,”
whether those statements were made “with the intent to mislead Plaintiff into

relying upon them,” whether McQueary “justifiably and reasonably relied” upon

statements, and the amount of compensatory and punitive damages to which

McQueary proved an entitlement. See Affidavit of George Morrison (Ex. K).
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Further, the jury was required to determine whether McQueary mitigated his
damages by exercising “reasonable diligence” in seeking “substantially
comparabie employment” after June 30, 2012. Finally, during trial, the jury heard

significant evidence from many witnesses, over many days, relevant to claims that

it would decide (i.e., defamation, intentional misrepresentation) interspersed with

would not decide (i.e., the

evidence that was only relevant to claims that it
Whistleblower claim).

The presentation of varied recovery theories in this complex case necessarily
made it a hlghly, and 'Liud’Lﬂy, COuuiSiug one for the jd“‘_y’.

the context of precluding the University from admitting the News Articles, that this

was a jury that would have a difficult time merely “parsing the distinction

hearsay purpose. See N.T. (10/18/16 (A.M.)) at 58:.2-5. Since the Court denied

the University’s request to present special interrogatories, it cannot be determined

whether the jury’s decisions on liability are valid, as well as whether the jury
impermissibly awarded duplicative compensatory damages under the multiple
claims. It also cannot be determined if the jury awarded punitive damages on

proper grounds. Under these circumstances, the Court committed reversible,

prejudicial error — and, as such, a new trial is warranted.
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H. THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY

B ]

ACTING AS A BIASED ADVOCATE FOR PLAINTIFF, AND
AGAINST DEFENDANT, DURING TRIAL

towards a litigant “is one of the most serious charges that can be leveled at a judge.

The record must clearly show prejudice, bias, capricious disbelief or prejudgment.”

Nemeth v. Nemeth, 451 A.2d 1384, 1388 (Pa. Super. 1982) (citing In re J.F. 408

A.2d 1382 (Pa. 1979)). Prejudice in a judge is defined as a mental attitude or
disposition which sways judgment and renders the judge unable to function

impartially in a particular case. Feingold v. Skipwith, 11 Phila. 20, 1984 Phila. Cty.

Rptr. LEXIS 64, 1984 WL 320886 (1984) (citing Black's Law Dictionary, 1061-
1062 (5th ed. 1979)).
When a judge’s “apparent antagonism towards [a party] is evident from the

record,” an “appearance of impropriety” rule is used to analyze putatively biased

in-court conduct. In re Adoption of L.J.B., 18 A.2d 1098, 1111 (Pa. 2011); see In

Interest of Morrow, 583 A.2d 816, 819 (Pa. Super. 1990) (applying impropriety

standard to circumstances in which the “lower court judge twice interrupted the

3 (13

testimony of a crucial witness for appellee” and cut short the witness’s “ability to
complete her testimony for the defense.”).

An appearance of impropriety warrants new proceedings before another

judge. Joseph v. Scranton Times, L.P., 987 A.2d 633, 634 (Pa. 2009). There is an
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appearance of impropriety “whenever there are factors or circumstances that may

reasonably question the jurist’s impartiality in the matter.” Id. (citing In Interest of

McFall, 617 A.2d 707, 712-13 (Pa. 1992)). Unlike the rule applied to other kinds
of errors warranting a new trial, when appearance of judicial impropriety has been
established, no showing of actual prejudice is required to compel recusal and new

trial. Scranton Times, 987 A.2d at 634.

It is important for trial courts to remain vigilant of the fact that “[t]he trial

judge is not an advocate, but a neutral arbiter interposed between the parties and

DA

their advocates.” Commonwealth v. Overby, 809 A.2d 295, 3

Y

6 (Pa. 2002) Only

in certain rare exceptions is the trial judge duty-bound to raise additional

arguments on behalf of one party or another such that, if and when the judge fails

9 T
.
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In Commonwealth v. Pachipko, 677 A.2d 1247 (Pa.Super. 1996), the

Superior Court held:
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1 a
raises a defense or issue which was not raised by either
party. It is clearly inappropriate for a trial court to raise

an issue on hphqunFa partyv therehv acting ac an
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advocate. MacGregor v. Mediq Inc., 395 Pa. Super. 221,

576 A.2d 1123, 1128 (1990); see also Wojciechowski v.
Murray, 345 Pa. Super. 138, 142,497 A.2d 1342, 1344
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(1985) (trial court had no authorlty to employ sua sponte
Political Subdivision Tort Claims Act as basis for

dismissing claim aeainst defendant who had not raised
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defense).
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Pachipko at 1249. See Commonwealth v. Edwards, 637 A.2d 259, 261 (Pa. 1993))
(holding that 1t is per se reversible error if a judge advocates on behalf of a party).

In Edwards, the dSupreme Court o1 Pennsylvania reiterated: ~“As the U.S.

Supreme Court said in Dennis v. United States, 384 U.S. 855, 86 S. Ct. 1840, 16 L.

Ed. 2d 973 (1966): In our adversary system, it is enough for judges to judge. The
determination of what may be useful to [a litigant] can properly and effectively be
made only by an advocate. 384 U.S. at 874-875, 86 S. Ct. at 1851, 16 L. Ed. 2d at

986. Id. In Commonwealth v. Baumhammers, 960 A.2d 59 (Pa. 2008), the

United States Supreme Court.

Multiple instances exist where the Court acted as an advocate on behalf of

when it sua sponte instructed the jury that Curley and Schultz held the status of

“mandated reporters” — even though McQueary did not seek that instruction and

racented nn evidence ta en
AWIOVi1ILNVGL 1INV W AN WA WSO

n
I

67. The Court again acted as an advocate when at several points during the trial it
decided, of its own accord, to itself question witnesses in the jury’s presence. N.T.

(10/17/2016 (A.M.)) at 113:6-113:22; (10/18/2016 (P

al . . 5 &

M.)) at 141:25-142:18.

Other examples include the disparate treatment related to its handling of News

Articles, supra, and threatening to provide an adverse inference if a University
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witness invoked the attorney-client privilege, supra, ignoring its own earlier
decision when it decided to deny the University’s request to use special

interrogatories on the verdict sheet, supra.

Under these circumstances, Defendant, The Pennsylvania State University,
respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant judgment notwithstanding the

verdict, or aiternatively, grant a new trial.



RELIEF REQUESTED

For all the foregoing reasons, the University respectfully requests that the
Court grant judgment notwithstanding the verdict in favor of the University or

grant a new trial, or remit improperly awarded damages.
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Dated: February 6, 2017
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WHITE AND WILLIAMS LLP Attorneys for Defendant,
Nancy Conrad, Esquire The Pennsylvania State University

Identification No. 56157
3701 Corporate Parkway, Suite 300

Camtan Vallag
Cernter vauc_y PA 18034

610.782.4909/Fax 610.782.4935
conradn@whiteandwilliams.com

MICHAEL J. MCQUEARY, : IN THE COURT OF COMMON
: PLEAS OF CENTRE COUNTY

: CIVIL ACTION NO. 2012-1804

UAI\IIL“ RSIu\‘( R ;HON. THOMAS G. GAVIN
Defendant. '
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Nancy Conrad, Esquire, hereby certify that on this 6" day of February
2017, a true and correct copy of the BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF POST-TRIAL

BRIEF was served upon the following persons via the methods noted below.

By Hand Delivery

Honorable Thomas G. Gavin
Justice Center, Courtroom 7
201 West Market Street
West Chester, Pennsylvania 19380-0989

Judge



By Pre-Paid Fed-Ex Overnight

Elliot A. Strokoff, Esquire
Strokoff & Cowden, PC
132 State Street
Harrisburg, PA 17101
Counsel for Plaintiff

William T. Fleming, Esquire
Fleming Law Offices
111 Sowers Street, Suite 330
State College, PA 16801
Local Counsel for Plaintiff

WHITE AND WILLIAMS LLP
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EXHIBIT A



IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
CIVIL ACTION - LAW

MICHAEL J. MCQUEARY,

Plaintiff
V. No. 2012-1804 WZe &
Br 3
THE PENNSYLVANIA STATE SR
UNIVERSITY, ELox
Defendant =
o
[

Question 1:  DEFAMATION

Do you find in favor of Plaintiff?

yes ZS no

r

If you answer yes, what amount of damages do you award for:
a) compensatory damages £ / ] l 5 0 J O OO

b) punitive damages ())

Proceed to Question 2.

Question 2:  MISREPRESENTATION

Do you find in favor of Plaintiff?

oo X e

EXHIBIT “A”
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a) compensatory damages

b) punitive damages

After you have answered Question ! and Question 2, notify the tipstaff that you have reached a
verdict without revealing the verdict.






| hereby certify that the

wngm document i true
. an ct copy of the
Elliot A. Strokoff, Esq.
St;gkoff&}gov?den,sg.c. m‘m ""9 natter.
132 Staie Street
PO Box 11903 v
Harrisburg, PA 17108-1903 /
{717) 233-5353
eas@strokoffandcowden.com 4
MICHEL J. MCQUEARY : IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Plaintiff : CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
vs. : NO. 2012-1804
THE PENNSYLVANIA STATE : CIVIL ACTION
UNIVERSITY, :
Defendant : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

NOTICE

YOU HAVE BEEN SUED IN COURT. If you wish to defend against the claims set forth
in the following pages, you must take action within twenty (20} days after this
Complaint and Notice are served, by entering a written appearance personally or by
attorney and filing in writing with the Court your defenses or objections to the claims
set forth against you. You are warned that if you fail to do so the case may proceed
without you and a judgment may be entered against you by the Court without further
notice for any money claimed in the Complaint or for any other claim or relief
requested by the Plaintiff. You may lose money or property or other rights important

to you.

YOU SHOULD TAKE THIS PAPER TO YOUR LAWYER AT ONCE. IF YOU DO NOT
HAVE A LAWYER, GO TO OR TELEPHONE THE OFFICE SET FORTH ON THE NEXT
PAGE. THIS OFFICE CAN PROVIDE YOU WITH INFORMATION ABOUT HIRING A
LAWYER.

IF YOU CANNOT AFFORD TO HIRE A LAWYER, THIS OFFICE MAY BE ABLE TO

PROVIDE YOU WITH INFORMATION ABOUT AGENCIES THAT MAY OFFER LEGAL
SERVICES TO ELIGIBLE PERSONS AT A REDUCED FEE OR NO FEE.

EXHIBIT “B”



COURT ADMINISTRATOR
Centre County Courthouse, Room 208
S. Allegheny Street & High Street
Bellefonte, PA 16823
(814) 355-6727

AVISO

USTED HA SIDO DEMANDADQO/A EN CORTE. Si usted desca defenderse de las
demandas que se presentan mas adelante en las siguientes paginas, debe tomar
accion dentro de los proximos veinte (20) dias después de la notificacion de esta
Demanda y Aviso radicando personalmente o por medic de un abogado una
comparecencia escrita y radicando en la Corte por escrito sus defensas de, y
objecciones a, las demandas presentadas aqui en contra suya. Se le advierte de que si
usted falla de tomar accién como se describe anteriormente, el caso puede proceder
sin usted y un fallo por cualguier suma de dinero reclamada en la demanda o

PRI Y. [P ASIUy.Jy J FUgERa. B4 I, DY I

cualquier otra reclamacion o remedio solicitado por ¢l demandante puede ser dictado
en contra suya por la Corte sinn mas aviso adicional. Usted puede perder dinero o
propiedad u otros derechos importantes para usted.

USTED DEBE LLEVAR ESTE DOCUMENTO A SU ABOGADO INMEDIATAMENTE, SI
USTED NO TIENE UN ABOGADO, LLAME O VAYA A LA SIGUIENTE OFICINA. ESTA
OFICINA PUEDE PROVEERLE INFORMACION A CERCA DE COMO CONSEGUIR UN
ABOGADO.

S1 USTED NO PUEDE PAGAR POR LOS SERVICIOS DE UN ABOGADO, ES POSIBLE
QUE ESTA OFICINA LE PUEDA PROVEER INFORMACION SOBRE AGENCIAS QUE
OFREZCAN SERVICIOS LEGALES SIN CARGO O BAJO COSTO A PERSONAS QUE
CUALIFICAN.

COURT ADMINISTRATOR
Centre County Courthouse, Room 208
S. Allegheny Street & High Street
Bellefonte, PA 16823
(814) 355-6727



Elliot A. Strokot], Esq.
Strokoff & Cowden, PC

132 State Street
Harrisburg, PA 17101
(717)233-5353
eas@strokoffandcowden.com

MICHAEL J. MCQUEARY, IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF
Plaintiff CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
v. DOCKET NO. 2012-1804
THE PENNSYLVANIA STATE CIVIL ACTION - LAW
UNIVERSITY,
Defendant JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
COMPLAINT

1. The Plaintiff, Michael J. McQueary, is an adult individual
and, at all times relevant to this Complaint, was a resident of State College,
Centre County, Pennsylvania.

2. ThevDefendant, The Pennsylvania State University (hereafter

PSU), was incorporated for educational purposes by the Act of February 22,



1855, PL 46, and has its principal administrative office located at 201 Old
Main, University Park, Centre County, Pennsylvania 16802.

3. Defendant PSU, at all times relevant to this Complaint,
received rﬁillions of dollars annually from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
for use in funding its operations.

4. From February 2000 through February 2003, the Plaintiff

was a Graduate Assistant Coach for the Defendant’s intercollegiate football

team.
5. In February 2001, Plaintiff’s supervisor was Head Foothall
Coach Joseph V. Paterno

6. In February 2001, Head Football Coach Paterno’s supervisor
was the PSU Director of Intercollegiate Athletics, Tim Curley (hereafter Athletics
Director Curley).

7. In February 2001, Athletics Director Curley’s supervisor was
PSU’s Senior Vice President, Finance and Business, Gary Schultz (hereafter
Senior Vice President Schultz).

8. In February 2001, the Defendant’s University Police provided
all law enforcement and security services to the Defendant’s University Park
Campus located in State College, Pennsylvania, with the same powers as police
of municipalities, including the power and duty to prevent crime, investigate

criminal acts, apprehend, arrest, and charge criminal offenders.



g. In February of 2001, the Director of the University Police,
Thomas Harman, was supervised by, and reported to, the Defendant’s Senior
Vice President Schultz.

10. At approximately 9:00 p.m. on February 9, 2001, the
Plaintiff witnessed an adult male, formerly employed by the Defendant as an ‘
Assistant Football Coach and Defensive Coordinator, engaging in highly
inappropriate and illegal sexual conduct with a boy who appeared to be about
ten to twelve years old in the Support Staff Locker Room showers in the Lasch
Football Building located on the Defendant’s University Park Campus.
t

F % e
L.

ifme prior to 2001, had the Defend

1l. Atno
University, or any of its employees or agents, provided the Plaintiff with any
instruction, guidance or training as to the jurisdictions of the Defendant’s
University Police and/or the police of the Borough of State College, and/or the
Pennsylvania State Police, with respect to criminal acts occurring on the
University Park Campus, nor had the Defendant provided the Plaintiff with any
instruction, guidance or training with respect to reperting sexual misconduct
under the federal Clery Act. |

12. At about 8:00 a.m. February 10, 2001, Plaintiff perscnally
reported what he had witnessed the night before, as described in paragraph 10

above, to his supervisor, Head Football Coach Paterno. Coach Paterno told the

Plaintiff that he had done th

e right thing in reporting this to him, that this was



very disturbing, that he would tell some people about what the Plaintiff had
witnessed and that he would get back to the Plaintiff.

13. Based upon information and belief, Plaintiff avers that by
February 11, 2001, Head Coach Paterno reported what the Plaintiff had
witnessed to Athletics Director Curley.

14, A few days after February 10, 2001, Head Football Coach
Paterno told the Plaintiff that he had reported what Plaintiff Ead witnessed on
February 9, 2001, to Athletics Director Curley and at that time Head Football
Coach Paterno reiterated that the Plaintiff had done the right thing in reporting
what he had

15.  About 9 or 10 days after making his report to Head Coach

Paterno, at the direction of Athletics Director Curley, the Plaintiff met with
Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz in a conference
room in the Bryce Jordan Center and told them about the aforementioned
highly inappropriate sexual misconduct that he had witnessed the night of
February 9, 2001.

16.  Senior Vice President Schultz and Athletics Director Curley
thanked the Plaintiff for providing them with this information, told the Plaintiff

that they thought this was a serious matter, that they would see that it was

properly investigated and that appropriate action be taken.
17. The Plaintiff believed and relied upon Athletics Director

Curley’s and Senior Vice President Schultz’s statements that they would see
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that the incident was properly investigated and that appropriate action be
taken.

18. Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz
requested the aforementioned meeting and conducted the aforementioned
meeting within the scope of their employment by Defendant.

19. Plaintiff believes and therefore avers, that neither Athletics
Director Curley nor Senior Vice President Schultz reported what the Plaintiff
had reported to them to the Defendant’s University Police, or to the State

College Police, or the Pennsylvania State Police or to the Centre County

20. Beginning about March 1, 2004, the Plaintiff became a full-
time Assistant Coach for the football team of Pennsylvania State University.

21.  As an inducement to retain the Plaintiff as an Assistant
Football Coach, on or about December 17, 2008, Athletics Director Curley
provided the Plaintiff with a letter memorializing a severance commitment, a
true and correct copy of which is attached hereto és Exhibit A hereto. Plaintiff
believes and therefore avers that on or about December 17, 2008, the
Defendant’s other Assistant Football Coaches received similar severance
commitments as an inducement to retain their services.

22. In November 2010, the Plaintiff provided information to
investigators from the Pennsylvania Attorney General’s Office and the

Pennsylvania State Police about what he had witnessed as is described in 10
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above and that he had, about 10 days thereafter, told Athletics Director Curley
and Senior Vice President Schultz what he had witnessed.

23.  On December 14, 2010, the Plaintiff testified in Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania, before a Statewide Investigating Grand Jury about what he had
witnessed in the Lasch Football Building Support Staff Shower Room as
described in 110 above. Also, included in the Plaintiff’s Grand Jury testimeny
was that he had reported the incident to Athletics Director Curiey and Senior

Vice President Schultz.

paid family health insurance coverage, pension contribution, a moter vehicle
and a cell phone,

25. As of November 4, 2011, the present value of the Plaintiff’s
reasonably anticipated future earnings over the course of the next 25 years in
the profession of football coaching was at least $4,000,000.

26. On or about November 4, 2011, the Statewide Investigating
Grand Jury issued a Presentment finding, among other things, that Athletics
Director Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz each made a materially false
statement to the Grand Jury concerning the Plaintiff’s report of sexual

misconduct to them.



27. Pursuant to the Grand Jury Presentment, both Athletics
Director Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz were charged with violations
of the Pennsylvania Crimes Code.

28. On Saturday, November S, 2011, Defendant’s President
Spanier, acting within the scope of his employment, issued a statement,
published on Penn State Live, the Defendant University’s official news service,
a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

29. On Monday, November 7, 2011,
Spanier, acting within the scope of his employment, reiterated his

N R WIURRCI & L | TSNP SIS
da11d OCNIor ViCe rresiacrit

unconditional support for Athletics Director Curley
Schultz to a meeting of numerous staff of the Defendant’s intercoliegiate
athletic department held at the Mount Nittany Lounge at Beaver Stadium,
reiterating his affirmation of the honesty and integrity of Athletics Director
Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz and stating that the charges against
them were groundless.

30. Even though the Plaintiff was quite ready, willing and able to
do so, on Thursday afternoon, November 10, 2011, Acting Head Coach Tom
Bradley told the Plaintfi that the Defendant’s Administration was prohibiting

the Plaintiff from coaching in any capacity in the upcoming football game that

Saturday,

Z,

31 On Thursdav evening, November 10, 2011, Acting Athletics
. ] y evening, November 10, 2011, Acting Atnletics

Director Sherburne told the Plaintiff that the Defendant’s Administration was
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directing that the Plaintiff leave the State College, Pennsylvania area for the
weekend.

32. By telephone call from Acting Athletics Director Mark
Sherburne on Friday, November 11, 2011, at appreximately 1:30 p.m., Mr.
Sherburne told the Plaintiff, who had left the state pursuant to the directive of
the evening before, that he was going to be placed on paid administrative leave
and that Plaintiff would be advised as to what that meant in a meeting to be
scheduled for Sunday, November 13, 2011.

33. On November 13, 2011, shortly after 7:00 p.m., the Plaintiff
attended a meeting in the Athletics Director’s
with Acting Athletics Director Sherburne, Human Resources Manager Erika
Runkle, and the University’s General Counsel, Cynthia Baldwin. At that
meeting, Acting Athletics Director Sherburne read to the Plaintiff the statement
attached hereto as Exhibit C, and then handed Exhibit C to the Plaintiff.

34. In response to Acting Athletics Director Sherburne’s reading
of the statement to him, the Plaintiff replied that he was ready, willing, able
and desirous of coaching at Penn State and that he did not feel he was
“negligent in any way with my job responsibilities.” University General Counsel

Baldwin replied that “No one is accusing you of being negligent at all.”



COUNT 1 - (Whistleblower)

35.  Paragraphs 1-34 above incorporated by reference herein as
if fully set forth.

36. As the result of being placed on paid administrative leave,
from November 13, 2011, the Plaintiff was barred from performing any football
coaching duties, including coaching in preparation for, and in, the Ticket City
Bowl, and deprived of receiving the bonus paid to Assistant Coaches therefore.

37. As the result of being placed on paid administrative leave on

valued at $425 per month.

38. Itis believed and therefore averred that the Plaintiff was the
only Assistant Football Coach employed by the Defendant at the time of Joseph
V. Paterno’s departure as Head Football Coach who was not invited to be
interviewed for employment as an Assistant Coaching position by Defendant
University’s incoming new Head Football Coach, Bill O’Brien.

39. The Plaintiff, based upon knowledge and belief, was the only
Penn State employee to whom the University has not offered to reimburse
counsel fees incurred as a result of legal process related to the Pennsylvania
Attorney General’s criminal investigations and/or testifying before of the
Statewide Investigating Grand Jury. Based upon information and belief, the

Plaintiff avers that the Defendant is paying the legal fees incurred by Athletics
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Director Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz in defending the criminal
charges against them. The Plaintiff has incurred substantial and ongoing
counsel fees incurred as a result of legal process relative to the Pennsylvania
Attorney General’s criminal investigations and testifying before the Statewide
Investigating Grand Jury.

40. Plaintiff believes, and therefore avers, that all the other
Assistant Football Coaches whose employment has been terminated by the
University as a consequence of the decision of the new Head Football Coach
not to continue their employment began receiving their severance payments by
July 31, 2012, The Defendant University refu 10N
- pay severance to the Plaintiff as set forth in Exlubit A hereto until S8eptember
, 2012,

41. As aresult of the Defendant’s refusal to honor its
commitment to pay severance to the Plaintiff until September 17, 2012, the
Plaintiff was financially constrained in August 2012 to take an early withdrawal
of his TIAA-CREF Retirement Account, at a substantial, but as of yet
undeterminéble, tax cost and penalty.

42. Based upon information and belief, all of the other Assistant
Football Coaches who were not retained by new Head Football Coach O’Brien,
received notices on or before July 31, 2012 of their COBRA rights to continue

health insurance to be paid for by the University. Despite repeated demands
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therefore, Plaintiff, however, did not receive any notice of his COBRA rights
until September 15, 2012.

43. It is believed and therefore averred, that every other
Assistant Football Coach who was employed by thé Defendant in 2011 and who
was not retained by new Head Football Coach O'Brien was notified that he
would not be retained by the University no later than January 31, 2012.

44. The Plaintiff received no notice that his employment was
terminated until he heard during a televised news conference on July 3, 2012,
then Defendant’s President Ericson stating that the Plaintiff was no longer
employed by the University.

45. By barring the Plaintiff from all facilities associated with
Penn State football program as part of being placed on administrative leave, the
Plaintiff was ostracized and isolated from a community of individuals,
colleagues and friends and a program which had been an integral part of his
life for approximately 20 years

46. Plaintiff avers that he was treated in a discriminatory fashion
as set forth above, and that his employment was terminated by the Defendant
because of his aforementioned cooperation with investigators for the
Pennsylvania Attorney General, his provision of truthful testimony to the
Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, his truthful testimony at the criminal

preliminary hearings for Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice President

Schultz and further because Plaintiff is expected to be a key prosecution
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witness at the criminal trials of the Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice
President Schultz.

47. The Plaintiff’s aferementioned reports to Head Football
Coach Paterno, Athletics Director Curley, Senior Vice President Schultz, the
investigators from the Pennsylvania State Police and Attorney General’s Office,
the Plaintiff’s testimony to the Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, and at the
Preliminary Hearing on the criminal charges against Athletics Director Curley
and Senicr Vice President Schultz on December 16, 2011, were truthful, and
made without malice or consideration of personal benefit.
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University since November 5, 2011 has caused the Plaintiff much distress,
anxiety and embarrassment.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands judgment against the
Defendant, Pennsylvania State University liquidated damages consisting of the
sum of: (1) the bowl bonus Plaintiff would have received had he not been
placed on administrative leave; plus (2) $4,250 representing the fair rental
value of his employer provider vehicle for the period November 13, 2011
through September 30, 2012; plus (3) reimbursement of legal fees he incurred
and/or paid for legal counsel in connection with the legal process of the
criminal investigations and prosecutions; plus (4) back pay and benefits
through the date of trial; and plus (5) the amount of tax and penalty Plaintiff

will have to pay on account of the early withdrawal of his TIAA-CREF
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Retirement Account; prejudgment interest on the foregoing; plus an order for
reinstatement, or in lieu thereof front pay, plus general damages as
compensation for Plaintiff’s distress, anxiety and embarrassment, plus costs of

litigation, including reasonable counsel fees.

COUNT II - (Defamation)

49. Paragraphs 1-48 above are incorporated by reference herein
as if fully set forth.

50. The written statement released by the University President
Spanier on November 4, 2011, as set forth in Exhibit C to the Complaint, and
the verbal statement made by University President Spanier to the Athletic
Department staff meeting on November 7, 2011, clearly suggest that the
Plaintiff was lying in his reports and testimonies that he had reported the
sexual misconduct he had witnessed o
Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz.

51,  The written statement released
Spanier on November 4, 2011, as set forth in Exhibit C to the Complaint, and
the verbal statement made by University President Spanier to the Athletic
Department staff meeting on November 7, 2011, clearly suggest that the

Plaintiff had lied to law enforcement officials and committed perjury to the

Statewide Investigating Grand Jury when he stated and testified that he had
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reported the sexual misconduct he had witnessed on February 9, 2011 to
Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz.

52. Exhibit C to this Complaint was widely reported in the
mainstream print, television and radio media, and was viewed by innumerable
people on the internet.

53.  Exhibit C was published by President Spanier with actual
malice and/or with reckless disregard for the truth in an outrageous effort to
provide full and public support of the University to two criminal defendants in
an effort to assist in their exoneration (regardless of their guilt or innocence] in
the belief that their exoneration would hel
Defendant, to isolate the Plaintiff and to make the Plaintiff the scapegoat in this
mafter.

54. To this date, the Defendant University has not retracted,
withdrawn or apologized for President Spanier’s statement as set forth in
Exhibit C. On the contrary, the Defendant’s continued financial support for
Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice President Schultz and its
maltreatment toward the Plaintiff reinforces the perception that the Plaintiff
had lied and committed perjury.

35. President Spanier’s statements have irreparably harmed the
Plaintiff’s reputation for honesty and integrity, and have irreparably harmed
the Plaintiff’s ability to earn a living, especially in his chosen profession of

coaching football.
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56. The publication and innumerable republications of President
Spanier’s statement as set forth in Exhibit C, have subjected the Plaintiff to
public scorn and vilification.

57. The President’s statements to the members of the Athletic
Department staff on November 7, 2011, as aforementioned, have caused
certain members of the Athletic Department staff to distance themselves from
the Plaintiff and/or cease to communicate or socially interact with him.

58. President Spanier’s written and verbal statements as
aforementioned have caused the Plaintiff distress, anguish, humiliation and
embarrassment.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against the Defendant
Pennsylvania State University for $4,000,000, or such greater amount as may
be proven at trial, for lost future earnings, plus general damages to be
determined at trial for distress, anguish, humiliation and embarrassment, plus

punitive damages, costs of suit, and such other relief deemed appropriate by

the Court.

COUNT III (Misrepresentation)
59. Paragraphs 1-58 above are incorporated by reference herein
as if fully set forth.
60. Plaintiff believes, and therefore avers, that during the

meeting in February 2011 Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice President
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Schultz intentionally misrepresented to the Plaintiff that they thought this was
a serious matter, that they would see that it was properly investigated and that
appropriate action would be taken. On the contrary, Athletics Director Curley
and Senior Vice President Schultz, unbeknownst to the Plaintiff, had decided to
pursue a course of action that would avoid an investigation by any law
enforcement investigator or other trained investigator and try to keep Plaintiff’s
report, and the underlying incident, a secret in an effort to preserve the
reputation of the Defendant University.

61. Plaintiff believes, and therefore avers, that Athletics Director

induce the Plaintiff not to report the matter to any other law enforcement
authority.

62. The Plaintiff relied upon Athletics Director Curley’s and
Senior Vice President Schultz’s misrepresentation and did not report the
incident to any other law enforcement authority until he was approached in
November of 2010 by investigators from the Pennsylvania Attorney General and
Pennsylvania State Police.

63. As a proximate cause of his reliance on the aforementioned
misrepresentation of Athletics Director Curley and Senior Vice President
Schultz, the Plaintiff has been labeled and branded as being part of a cover-up,
which has caused irreparable harm to his ability to earn a living, especially in

his chosen profession of coaching football.
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64. As a proximate cause of Athietics Director Curley’s and
Senior Vice President Schultz’s misrepresentation and Plaintiff’s reliance
th